Buckinghamshire Council

Health & Adult Social Care Select
Committee

Agenda
Date:

Thursday 25 November 2021

Time:

10.00 am

Venue:

The Oculus, Buckinghamshire Council, Gatehouse Road, HP19 8FF - Aylesbury

Membership: J MacBean (Chairman), S Adoh, P Birchley, M Collins (Vice-Chairman), P Gomm,
T Green, C Heap, H Mordue, C Poll, G Sandy, R Stuchbury, A Turner, L Walsh, S Morgan, J Wassell and
Z McIntosh (Healthwatch Bucks)
Agenda Item

Time

1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP

10:00

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

3

MINUTES
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on Thursday 30 th
September 2021 as a correct record.

4

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
Public questions is an opportunity for people who live, work or study
in Buckinghamshire to put a question to a Select Committee.

5 - 10

The Committee will hear from members of the public who have
submitted questions in advance relating to items on the agenda. The
Cabinet Member, relevant key partners and responsible officers will
be invited to respond.
Further information on how to register can be found here:
https://www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk/your-council/get-involvedwith-council-decisions/select-committees/
5

CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE
For the Chairman to update Members on health and social care
scrutiny related activities since the last meeting.

Page No

10:05

6

FUTURE GP AND HEALTHCARE SERVICES IN BUCKINGHAM
The Swan Practice in Buckingham launched a 12-week consultation
on the proposed plans to build a new site at Lace Hill. The public
consultation ran from 23rd August to 16th November 2021. The HASC
Select Committee submitted a formal response to the consultation.

10:10

11 - 16

10:15

17 - 70

11:30

71 - 108

12:10

109 - 112

The Chairman will update the Committee on the next steps.
Papers:
Consultation briefing on the future of healthcare services in
Buckingham
Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee consultation response
7

BUCKINGHAMSHIRE HEALTHCARE NHS TRUST'S CLINICAL
STRATEGY
The Committee will hear from representatives from
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust about their newly published
clinical strategy.
Presenter:
Mr David Williams, Director of Strategy, Buckinghamshire Healthcare
NHS Trust
Mr Andrew McLaren, Chief Medical Officer, Buckinghamshire
Healthcare NHS Trust
Papers:
Covering report from Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Clinical Strategy

8

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT
The Committee will review the Director of Public Health’s Annual
Report. This year the report focuses on domestic violence and
abuse.
Presenters:
Dr Jane O’Grady, Director of Public Health, Buckinghamshire Council
Papers:
Cover report
Director of Public Health’s Annual report

9

HEALTHWATCH BUCKS UPDATE
The Committee will receive an update on the recent key projects for
Healthwatch Bucks.
Presenter:
Ms Z McIntosh, Chief Executive, Healthwatch Bucks
Paper:
Update attached

10

WORK PROGRAMME
The Committee will review the items on the work programme for
future meetings.

12:20

113 - 116

Contributors:
Committee Members
Papers:
Work programme
11

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting is due to take place on Thursday 3rd February
2022.

12:30

If you would like to attend a meeting, but need extra help to do so, for example because of a disability,
please contact us as early as possible, so that we can try to put the right support in place.
For further information please
democracy@buckinghamshire.gov.uk.

contact:

Liz

Wheaton

on

01296

383856,

email

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

Buckinghamshire Council

Health & Adult Social Care Select
Committee
Minutes
MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE HEALTH & ADULT SOCIAL CARE SELECT COMMITTEE HELD ON
THURSDAY 30 SEPTEMBER 2021 IN THE OCULUS, BUCKINGHAMSHIRE COUNCIL, GATEHOUSE ROAD,
AYLESBURY HP19 8FF, COMMENCING AT 10.00 AM AND CONCLUDING AT 12.55 PM
MEMBERS PRESENT
J MacBean, P Birchley, M Collins, P Gomm, C Heap, H Mordue, C Poll, R Stuchbury, A Turner, L Walsh,
S Morgan, J Wassell and Z McIntosh
OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE
Mrs E Wheaton, Cllr C Jackson, Ms T Ironmonger, Ms C Capell, Ms L Smith and Ms S Hone
Agenda Item
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE/CHANGES IN MEMBERSHIP
Apologies were received from Cllr George Sandy and Cllr Tony Green.
Cllr Susan Morgan had replaced Cllr Mohammad Fayyaz on the Committee.

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Cllr C Poll declared an interest in item 6 as his wife was employed by Buckinghamshire
Healthcare Trust. He also declared an interest in item 8 as the Healthwatch Bucks report refers
to a number of care homes which he provides a service to.
Cllr A Turner declared that he was a trustee of an independent carer organisation. The Scrutiny
officer advised that as long as this was included on his register of interest, he would only need to
declare an interest if there were an item relating to carers on the agenda.

3

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 29th July 2021 were confirmed as a correct
record.

4

PUBLIC QUESTIONS
There were no public questions.
The Chairman asked Committee Members to encourage members of the public to submit
questions for the Committee and referred Members to the work programme which detailed the

Page 5

items for future Committee meetings.
5

CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE
The Chairman updated Members on the following.


Lace Hill proposals – the public consultation closes on 16th November. The Chairman
explained that the Equality Impact Assessment had still not been circulated and an email
had been sent to the relevant people for a response. The HASC Select Committee would
be preparing a response to the consultation and the Chairman advised Members to send
their comments through so they could be included in the response.
Action: Committee Members



6

A stakeholder workshop on developing a whole system approach to tackling obesity had
taken place on 29th September with a second workshop due to take place in early
November. Public Health were facilitating these workshops and a number of HASC
Members had attended.

SYSTEM WINTER AND SURGE PLAN
The Chairman welcomed Ms C Capell, Director of Urgent and Emergency Care, Buckinghamshire
Healthcare NHS Trust, Cllr C Jackson, Deputy Cabinet Member for Public Health and Ms T
Ironmonger, Service Director, Adult Social Care.
During the presentation and subsequent discussion, the following main points were made and
questions asked by the Committee.










The Winter Plan had been developed by all system partners and it feeds into the wider
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care System Plan.
The Plan adopts an action focussed approach and there was a weekly system meeting to
monitor the actions.
The Surge Plan focussed on reporting the system plan regionally, paediatrics and Hospital
discharge.
A Member asked for clarification around who was part of the tactical cell. Ms Capell
explained that each provider across the Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership
was represented, including primary care, ambulance service, adult social care, public
health and mental health. She went on to explain that the system cell was set-up at the
start of the Covid pandemic and met every day – it now meets weekly and would
continue to do so throughout the Winter. There was a separate escalation cell across the
system.
In response to a question about what was meant by “stranded patients”, Ms Capell
explained that these were patients who were medically fit to be discharged but were not
in the right medical place.
A Member asked whether the Trust were experiencing any hospital supply issues as
reported in the national media. Ms Capell explained that, in terms of the issues with
fuel, this was being monitored across the system on a daily basis which included the
ambulance service and the patient transport service. During Covid, the Mutual Aid
process had strengthened and if the fuel crisis continued, then mutual aid would be
considered. Blood tubes for testing had been another area of reported shortage but Ms
Capell said that the Trust had not run out and if necessary, areas would be prioritised if
stocks were limited.
A Member expressed surprise that the Winter Plan did not include more information on
Covid vaccinations, particularly the roll-out of the booster programme. Ms Capell
Page 6




















explained that the deadline for submitting reports to the Committee meant that the
details around the booster programme had not be finalised but she updated the
Committee to say that the programme had started three days ago and she confirmed
that the Trust staff were receiving their booster vaccinations.
In response to questions around access to GPs, Ms Capell explained that the national
average for face-to-face GP appointments was 57% and Buckinghamshire was currently
operating at 50%. The Trust was working with primary care but it remained a challenge.
It was acknowledged that the 111 service was an integral part of ensuring people were
seen by the most appropriate health service.
A respiratory “hot hub” had been set-up for children and there were plans to employ
more GPs within the Hospital Trust so that more children could be seen at the front
door.
A Member asked whether there was a separate communications plan to support the key
public messages which were contained within the Winter Plan. Ms Capell confirmed that
the Trust were working with Buckinghamshire Council’s communications team with a
specific campaign around the 111 service – direct bookings could be made from 111 to
GPs.
There was Government funding to support more communications around the ambulance
service.
Ms Capell confirmed that the Trust works closely with the voluntary and community
sector. Ms Ironmonger added that this sector was part of the Council’s Adult Social Care
Plan which she agreed to share with the Committee.
Action: Ms Ironmonger
A Member asked about the handover time of ambulances as it was recently reported
that Scotland were experiencing 9 hour handover waiting times. Ms Capell explained
that some days were better than others and the Trust was working hard with the
ambulance service to reduce the delays, which were currently between 6-7 hours. She
went on to say that around 70 ambulances arrived at Stoke Mandeville every day with
around 4-5 queuing at any one time but the Trust was working hard to improve this.
In response to a question about whether Hospital staff were affected by the high level of
people being “pinged” by the track and trace Covid App, Ms Capell explained that the
app was turned off in the Hospital and each ward/area was risk assessed on a case by
case basis and relevant measures put in place if required. Staff had regular lateral flow
tests.
A Member thanked Ms Capell for her reassurances around “stranded patients” but went
on to ask who was responsible for mental health patients who were placed in out of
county facilities. Ms Capell confirmed that if they were residents of Buckinghamshire,
then they would be the responsibility of the Buckinghamshire system.
A Member asked how Buckinghamshire was performing in terms of the consultant
connect pathways and the agile platforms to aid PCN referrals, which were subject to
national benchmarking. Ms Capell explained that there was scope to develop the
connections further, for example, the dermatology service. The frailty connection was
working well between primary care and hospital consultants and had moved to a 24/7
service about 6 months ago.
Ms Capell confirmed that the integrated discharge team worked seven days a week and
the whole system worked together to find the right placements for their patients.
Members expressed concern around GP access and whilst acknowledging this was
primary care, Ms Capell agreed to take these concerns back to the Clinical
Commissioning Group for a response.
Action: Ms Capell
Page 7







A Member asked for some examples of the better ways of working which were referred
to in the presentation. Ms Capell explained that a number of pathways had been
strengthened, including mental health services and colleagues were now working
alongside the 111 service, 24/7. Ms Ironmonger added that the support to care
providers had also been strengthened, including more pro-active communications
between social care and care providers.
A Member asked for reassurance in terms of oversight of all the actions across the
system and the measures in place to ensure delivery of the actions, particularly in
relation to the IAPT service and the provision of urgent psychological assessments. Ms
Capell confirmed that the actions were reported and managed through the weekly
tactical cell meetings. There was an urgent risk register where all the actions had been
mapped by providers.
A Member expressed concern about maternity services and mothers being sent to the
wrong location by the 111 service. Ms Capell explained that the 111 service operators
use a local directory of services which was the responsibility of the local providers. The
Trust acknowledged that the directory needed to be updated and work had started on
this a few weeks ago. Ms Capell agreed to update the Committee once completed
(expected by the end of October).
Action: Ms Capell





A Member referred to the statement in the presentation about the Buckinghamshire
system not being mature enough to enable cross organisational working and asked for
further details. Ms Capell explained that the Trust was part of the Urgent Care
Programme.
In response to a question about the involvement of local pharmacists in developing the
Winter plan, following a request by the HASC Select Committee to the Health &
Wellbeing Board, the Deputy Cabinet Member said that he would check this and confirm
their involvement.
Action: Cllr Carl Jackson



Ms Capell confirmed that the 111 service was booking directly into local pharmacy
services and that the Trust was working closely with the Local Pharmaceutical Company
to help strengthen the pathways.

The Chairman thanked the presenters for attending the meeting.
7

TACKLING OBESITY/PROMOTING HEALTHY LIFESTYLES
The Chairman welcomed Cllr C Jackson, Deputy Cabinet Member for Public Health, Ms S Hone,
Public Health Principal and Ms L Smith, Public Health Principal.
During the presentation and the discussions, the following main points were made and
questions asked.




The aim of developing a whole system approach to obesity was to ensure clearer
accountability with a clear set of actions.
The first stakeholder workshop had taken place with a second workshop planned for 10 th
November. The draft plan would be ready towards the end of the year/beginning of
2022.
In response to a question about whether all providers were committed to tackling
Page 8




















obesity, the Deputy Cabinet Member explained that there was good representation from
across the whole system at the first workshop (around 50 attendees).
The whole system plan would cut across a number of different areas, including planning
and leisure.
Members acknowledged that there were consequences of obesity, including diabetes
and heart disease.
Local plans would be influenced by Government guidance and timelines which were due
to be published soon.
It was acknowledged that the whole system approach would be ever evolving and
constantly under review.
A Member commented that a recent report showed that around 40% of people gained
over half a stone during the Covid lockdown.
High levels of obesity could be linked to areas of deprivation. Community Boards would
be issued with updated public health profiles to highlight the areas of obesity by Board
area.
A Member asked public health colleagues for their initial thoughts on how the
community boards could be involved in this issue. Ms Hone responded by saying that it
was early days and the purpose of the workshops was to explore how different groups
could play their part.
There was a general comment made that Members need more assistance and guidance
in relation to the community board funding applications. There was also
acknowledgement that whilst community boards could identify projects/initiatives, there
was difficulty in finding partners to deliver them.
A Member expressed concern about the mental health issues and financial worries
associated with obesity. Levels of income needed to be addressed as a part of the whole
system plan.
A Member asked about the robustness of the data used to report both adult and child
obesity rates. Ms Hone explained that the National Child Measuring Programme
provides the child dataset as school children were measured in Reception and Year 6.
Only 10% of children in these cohorts were measured last year due to the pandemic so
2019 was the last full set of data. The Active Lives survey was the main source of the
adult data.
A Member asked whether there were plans to gather more quantitative and qualitative
data. Ms Hone explained that a few focus groups had taken place and more community
engagement was planned.
PSHE was a mandatory requirement and Public Health colleagues work with schools to
support them to put various initiatives in place.
A Member stressed the importance of listening to the needs of children and targeting
key messages towards them.
A Member expressed concern about bullying associated with child obesity and how it
adversely affects their mental health. Inclusivity and sensitivity need to be at the core of
the whole system plan.
Using plain language and simple messages for children should be a key element of the
plan.

The Chairman thanked the presenters and concluded by saying that the Committee would be
looking for evidence that the HASC’s work in reviewing child obesity had been used to shape and
inform this important area of work.
8

HEALTHWATCH BUCKS UPDATE
Ms Z McIntosh, Chief Executive of Healthwatch Bucks, took Members through the latest update and
made the following main points.

Page 9















A report, with recommendations, on remote mental health had been published and
could be accessed on their website.
Buckinghamshire Council had commissioned Healthwatch to undertake a project about
people’s experience of Direct Payments. A report, with recommendations, was made to
the Council.
Part of the role of Healthwatch was to collect feedback on local Health and Social Care
services. One of the top negative themes across primary care was access to services.
Feedback about dentistry had featured more often since April 2021.
A report on the Covid second vaccination patient experience was due to be published.
The “enter and view” visits had restarted with a focus on day opportunity centres. These
visits were currently being planned until December.
A Member expressed concern about continuity within primary care. Ms McIntosh asked
Members to encourage members of the public to provide feedback to Healthwatch
Bucks on these issues.
In response to a question about funding, Ms McIntosh explained that Healthwatch Bucks
was primarily funded by Buckinghamshire Council. Healthwatch Bucks receives funding
for specific projects from other health providers, such as the Clinical Commissioning
Group to help support the work around the Patient Participation Groups.
A Member suggested piloting mental health through the GP service in a similar way to
the physiotherapists. The Chairman felt this point would be picked up through the
forthcoming HASC inquiry into the development of primary care networks. Ms McIntosh
mentioned the Community Mental Health Framework.
Ms McIntosh explained that Healthwatch Bucks sets its priorities for the year ahead
alongside four core projects. One of these projects was focussing on patient experience
of cancer services during the pandemic with a particular focus on areas of deprivation.
In response to a question around waiting times and access to services for children
requiring mental health services, the Chairman suggested referring these concerns to the
Children’s Select Committee.
Action: Chairman/Cllr P Birchley

9

WORK PROGRAMME
The Committee agreed the work programme for the municipal year 2021-2022.

10

SCOPING DOCUMENT FOR INQUIRY INTO PRIMARY CARE NETWORKS
The Committee discussed the scoping document for the Inquiry into the development of Primary
Care Networks in Buckinghamshire. The evidence gathering for this inquiry would commence in
October and the Chairman asked Members to notify her if they were interested in being part of
this piece of work.
Action: Committee Members

11

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
The next meeting is due to take place on Thursday 25th November at 10am.

Page 10

Agenda Item 6

Patients asked to share their views on the future of healthcare
services in Buckingham
The Swan Practice in Buckingham is asking patients to share their views on the future of GP
and healthcare services in the Buckingham area.
As the local population may be aware, for several years the practice has been working on
proposals to move its two Buckingham based surgeries - North End and Verney Close - into a
new, purpose-built site at Lace Hill, near the large Tesco superstore.
The surgery at Steeple Claydon would not be affected by this plan and would remain as it is.
The aspiration for this new site is to deliver a fuller range of healthcare services in a safer,
modern environment with better parking facilities. It would offer enhanced healthcare and
a better experience for patients, bringing a number of services they currently have to travel
to hospital to access closer to home. The practice is also in discussions with other healthcare
providers and community organisations who may be interested in having a presence at the
proposed site. The aim would be to create a new building which would serve the healthcare
needs of the growing community in and around Buckingham for many years to come.
The practice’s response to the COVID pandemic has seen a great increase in remote
appointments, home visits, and more staff in place to support people in the community.
The practice plans to continue to use these methods, when appropriate, to ensure everyone
is able to access general practice services whenever they need them.
Some NHS funding is available to support the Lace Hill proposal, but it can only move
forward if the practice is able to develop an affordable plan, matched with the necessary
finance. However, it is essential for some sort of solution to be found to the problems faced
by the practice’s current surgeries in Buckingham.
The surgeries at North End and Verney Close are no longer suitable for the requirements of
modern general practice. They have poor disabled access, very limited parking and are not
satisfactory working environments for staff. They cannot be expanded or redeveloped to
the necessary standards. The growing population in the Buckingham area means that these
surgeries, which are already over capacity with patient numbers will not be able to meet
demand.
Dr George Gavriel, Executive Partner at The Swan Practice, said: “Our goal as a GP Practice is
simple - we want to deliver the best possible services to our patients in an environment that
is safe, comfortable and fit for the purposes of a modern general practice.
“Unfortunately, that is no longer possible in our current premises in Buckingham. Our
surgeries are already beyond their capacity in terms of patient numbers and our population

Page 11

is growing. Doing nothing is simply not an option if we want to continue to meet the needs
of our patients.
“We think the proposal for a new site at Lace Hill would bring enormous benefits to the local
community and let us bring a wider range of healthcare services to Buckingham. But while
we hope many patients will be excited by these proposals, we know that others may have
concerns. We really want to hear as many views as possible, so any future plans we make
can take them into account. We would be really grateful if as many of our patients as
possible could please take a few moments to give us their feedback.”
You can have your say in a 12-week consultation running from 23 August to 16 November
2021.
You can give feedback in the following ways:
 By email to:

admin.theswanpractice@nhs.net (please include the word ‘Premises’
in your subject header).
 By post to: The Business Manager, The Swan Practice, Masonic House Surgery, 26
High Street, Buckingham, MK18 1NU
 Online, via a survey on the Your Voice Bucks platform:
https://yourvoicebucks.citizenspace.com/clinical-commissioninggroup/buckingham/
 You can post comments through the letterboxes of any of our surgeries.
 We are hoping to arrange some form of ‘drop-in’ sessions during the consultation –
we will update on these in due course.
More information about the proposals, including FAQs and more details about the issues
faced by the current surgeries in Buckingham, can be found at www.theswanpractice.co.uk.

Page 12

Councillor Jane MacBean

Appendix

Chairman
Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee
Buckinghamshire Council
The Gateway
Gatehouse Road
Aylesbury
HP19 8FF
www.buckinghamshire.gov.uk
Ms D Ratunabuabua
Business Manager, The Swan Practice
Ms J Newman
Head of Primary Care,
Clinical Commissioning Group

15 November 2021

SENT BY EMAIL
SENT BY EMAIL

Dear Debbie and Jessica,
Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee – consultation response to the future of
healthcare services in Buckingham
I am writing on behalf of the Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee who have discussed
and reviewed the future plans for healthcare services that you are proposing in Buckingham.
For ease, I have grouped the Committee’s key points and concerns into three main sections – the
process, the plans as outlined in the briefing paper and next steps.
The Process
1. As Chairman, I was first made aware of the public consultation during a meeting with
representatives from the CCG on 22 June, whilst discussing another healthcare issue. The
Committee had previously requested that any future proposals for substantial change be
raised with the Chairman of the Select Committee at an early stage. As statutory
consultees, Committee Members would have expected more detail to be provided to
them in the run up to the launch of the formal public consultation to aid their evaluation
of the proposed plans on behalf of residents.
2. We received a copy of the double-sided briefing paper which we understand was sent to
all key stakeholders and publicised to patients through various channels. The Committee
is still concerned that the most vulnerable people and those most affected by the
proposed plans may not have had an opportunity to respond to the consultation. Current
access to primary care during Covid has led people to have very different experiences and
some people have not accessed GP services during this time. We request a breakdown of
groups who have responded to the consultation and would like to know whether any
further work has been undertaken to reach any under-represented groups.

Page 13

3. On 18 August, I emailed you both with some queries which Members had initially raised –
particularly the issue of the Equality Impact Assessment (EIA). The response advised that
the EIA would be circulated to HASC Members at the end of August. Following chaser
emails (with the last one on 28 September), there has still been no sign of the EIA. We
are aware of public concern about moving to an out-of-town location and the EIA is a key
document for those evaluating and deciding on this proposal. We are concerned that the
EIA has not been made available and see this as a fundamental flaw in the consultation
process.
4. We understand that the Swan Practice is no longer part of the North Bucks Primary Care
Network (PCN) but we are looking for evidence of strong engagement with this
neighbouring PCN and other health providers so that the impact of the plans can be fully
understood. We would expect these impacts to be included as part of the EIA.
Future Plans
5. The briefing paper states that the surgery at Steeple Claydon would not be affected by
this plan and would remain as it is. We would like to understand the rationale behind this
decision and to seek reassurance that patients registered at this surgery are being given
the choice to move to the new facility, should they wish to do so. We would be
interested to review the feedback from patients at Steeple Claydon.
6. The paper refers to an enhanced healthcare offer, a better experience for patients and
services closer to home but what does this enhanced offer look like, how will the patient
experience be better and what services will be available (and does this include patients at
the Steeple Claydon surgery)? We expected to see this information worked up as part of
an options appraisal so the benefits of the new facility could be clearly understood.
7. You refer to serving the healthcare needs of the growing community. We expected to
see evidence of what those needs will be and how you have identified them. There is
also a lack of data to evidence your statement that there has been a “great increase in
remote appointments, home visits and more staff in place to support people in the
community”. We expect to see that evidence in the end of consultation report.
8. We are concerned about the reference to the practice being in discussions with other
healthcare providers and community organisations, as experience has shown that joining
up with other healthcare providers and community organisations is challenging and
requires commitment from the outset. Please provide details of the healthcare providers
and community organisations that have been consulted. Whilst recognising the aim of
creating a new multi-purpose community-based healthcare facility, we would like to see
evidence of buy-in and financial commitment from these organisations at this stage.
9. Linked to the above, we are concerned about the funding for the new facility as the
briefing paper states that it has not yet been secured and “some NHS funding being
available”. It therefore begs the question – what is the contingency plan if the funding
cannot be secured?
10. Although the formal planning issues are not part of the consultation briefing paper, we
understand that the “application for approval of the reserved matter shall be made to the
local planning authority not later than 3 years from the date of this permission”. This
deadline being 24h December 2021. Based on what we have heard, we have some key
Page 14

concerns around the planning issues for this new healthcare facility and we are seeking
assurances that these are being addressed and will be resolved by the deadline. We are
struggling to comprehend how a formal application surrounding reserved matters can be
submitted when detailed need has not been identified during the consultation and
therefore nothing tangible about realm design to suit future need can be brought
forward.
11. The paper states that “doing nothing is simply not an option if we want to meet the
needs of our patients”. We appreciate the drivers for change but we would have
expected to see the options laid out in the consultation documentation so patients and
key stakeholders could provide feedback on the viable options.
12. We request that the end of consultation report includes a breakdown of the feedback
from the various groups, including clinical and non-clinical staff from the Swan Practice.
We also wish to see details of the drop-in sessions you “hoped” to arrange but did not
provide details of and a breakdown of responses.
13. We are concerned about the environmental impact of people making more car journeys
as a result of moving the location of the healthcare provision from within the town to
out-of-town. We would like to see evidence that work has been undertaken to
understand patient journeys and would suggest this is included in the end of consultation
report. This should be a key consideration in the decision-making process.
Next Steps
14. The Council’s Community Boards aim to work closely with the Primary Care Networks
within their local area. We would strongly recommend that the end of consultation
report reflects the engagement that has taken place with the Buckingham and Villages
Community Board (membership includes parish and town councils).
15. As you know, the role of the HASC Select Committee is to hold the key partners within
health and social care to account and to identify areas for service improvement leading to
better outcomes for patients. We understand that the public consultation is due to end
on Tuesday 16th November. We have asked for clarification about what the next steps
and timeframes for the decision-making process will be once the consultation ends but
have not received this. We seek assurance that no decision will be made until the HASC
Select Committee has reviewed the end of consultation report and made further
comment, if necessary.
Please treat this letter as the Committee’s formal response to the consultation.
Yours sincerely

Cllr Jane MacBean
Chairman, Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7

Report to Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee
Date:

Thursday 25th November 2021

Title: Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust Strategy 2021-2025: ‘Outstanding Care,
Healthy Communities and a Great Place to Work’.
Author: Daniel Leveson, Deputy Director of Strategy, Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Officer support: Andrew Maclaren, Chief Medical Officer, David Williams, Director of
Strategy, Buckinghamshire healthcare NHS Trust
Recommendations/Outcomes:
The HASC is asked to note and discuss Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust’s 2025 Strategy

1.

Background

Our previous Trust strategy was approved in 2016. It supported us on our journey to achieve
a CQC rating of ‘good’ in 2019 (‘outstanding’ for caring) and to be part of one of the first
wave integrated care systems in England. Our organisation and system have moved on, not
least in responding to the largest global pandemic for a century. We have refreshed our
strategy to reflect the ways we have changed how we deliver care and how we want to
change in the future to meet the needs of the population. It was approved by our Trust
Board in September. The full strategy, and is published on our website here along with an
Executive Summary and Slide Deck.
Over the last 12 months we have taken the opportunity to look afresh at our changing
context. We have worked with senior clinical leadership teams to agree trends and themes
that will ensure we are well placed to be successful over the next decade. We have led
engagement and analysis to understand our operating context, our strengths and
weaknesses and the impact of COVID-19 to develop our clinical strategy and enabling
strategies. Central to our approach is the understanding that the clinical strategy is our
driver for change and enablers like estates, IT and people strategies are critical to its
success.
Our strategy is set out in five sections. Our clinical strategy is set out within the document
along with a summary of enabling strategies:
Section 1: Our strategic context.

Page 17

Section 2: Our strategy for 2025 provides a framework for service strategies that helps us
align our plans and get behind our shared vision.
Section 3: Our clinical strategy sets themes of our clinical strategy and high impact changes.
Section 4: Our enablers section provides an overview of the strategies such as People, IT,
Estates and Finance.
Section 5: Governance, assurance and communication provides a short summary of how
progress and delivery of the strategy will be embedded, monitored, reviewed and
communicated.
Our strategy is an outline of our vision for health and social care. It is a living document that
describes the choices we have and as such will be subject to changes over time. Any
proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement.
A key part of our strategy is to modernise our hospital infrastructure. We submitted an
expression of interest for the new phase of the health infrastructure plan in September. We
have appointed an experienced company to set-up portfolio office and contract relevant
expertise (e.g. health planners, architect-led design team, project managers, business case
authors) to help drive this strategy forward, identify a clear route to capital and develop a
programme business case for hospital services during 2021/22.

2.

Main content of report

2.1 Our Vision, Mission, Values and Priorities

Page 18

At the end of 2019 senior leaders from across BHT began to review and update our
strategy. In the summer of 2020, our Board agreed a new vision to reflect our aims for the
future.
Our Vision is Outstanding Care, Healthy Communities and a Great Place to Work.
As a result our priorities are:
1. Provide outstanding, best value care - people deserve to receive outstanding care from
us, have the best experience when they encounter our services and expect high quality
outcomes.
2. Take a leading role in our communities - we are not just here to treat patients who are
in need of our care. We have a role to play supporting people at home and in their
communities to live happy and healthy lives.
3. Ensure our people are listened to, safe and supported - we want to be a great place to
work that is inclusive, compassionate and diverse. We will support everyone to reach
their potential. We know that if we take care of our people we will deliver outstanding
care for patients and communities.
During September and October 2020, we asked our people to tell us what they thought
about our mission and our values. Over 300 people (75% from patient-facing services)
participated in either online polls or focus groups. As a result, we made a small change to
our mission. We replaced safe with personal to emphasise person-centred care. It
acknowledged safe care as a central component of outstanding care and our quality
strategy.
Our mission at work is to deliver personal and compassionate care every time.
Our CARE values guide us at work in everything we do to Collaborate, Aspire, Respect and
Enable.
2.2 Public Engagement and Co-design
During the second half of 2020 we undertook an online survey, focus groups and interviews.
This engagement focussed on areas like digital appointments, integrated communities,
keeping people safe and health inequalities. It helped us to gather some insight into people’s
hopes and concerns for the future and identify things we may not have considered as we
developed our strategy. The outcomes of this engagement process have been shared with
the Buckinghamshire Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee.
We are committed to getting better at involving all our communities in developments in
health and social care. We especially want to hear from people living in deprived areas and
from minority groups who often have the worst health outcomes in our region.
So far, this activity has provided us with vital information and laid an important foundation
for our strategy. It is not one-off, and we want to continue to extend our engagement into

Page 19

all the communities we serve in a culturally competent way that involves people and ensures
any changes we make are robust and meet the needs of local people.
2.3 Our Clinical Strategy
1. Urgent and Emergency Care:
Our vision is to work with our partners to provide highly responsive urgent care services close
to home. For more serious or life-threatening emergency care needs we will offer centralised
care with the very best expertise, from the best facilities to maximise the chances of survival
and a good recovery.





Digital or phone single point of contact via NHS111 and clinical assessment service to get
people to the right place first time when they have an urgent (but not life threatening)
need.
Working with GPs to deliver 24/7 urgent care avoiding unnecessary visits to hospital.
Strengthening emergency and critical care services by delivering them together ensuring
people are treated quickly and effectively in an emergency.
Making sure we have the right physical space to meet the emergency and critical care
needs of our growing population and to guarantee infection prevention and control.
2. Planned Care:

Our vision for planned care services is to use technology to deliver outpatient care that is
convenient and only ask people to come to hospital when they need to see an expert. We will
work with other planned care providers to perform procedures that deliver the best
outcomes in a timely way.






Offering online booking and virtual outpatient appointments to make outpatients as
convenient for people as possible, only asking them to come to hospital when it is
essential.
Working with other providers in the region to make the best use of people and
equipment and ensure people do not have to wait longer than they need to for
treatment.
Developing a world-class planned care centre with enough operating theatres to meet
the needs of our growing population.
Delivering efficient and effective care, using the latest technologies (like robotic surgery)
to achieve the best outcomes.
Ensuring separation of planned care from emergency care so it can run uninterrupted
when there is a lot of demand for emergency services or if there are future pandemics.
3. Integrated Communities:

Our vision is to simplify the health and social care system and support people to live long,
independent and healthy lives at home. When people need support, you will get it from the
right person, at the right place and at the right time.

Page 20






Integrating services to simplify health and social care for people and their families living
with disability, frailty or long-term illnesses.
Providing support for frail people living at home or in care homes including rapid 2-hour
responses at times of crisis and support to return home quickly after a hospital
admission.
Working with communities to tackle unhealthy behaviours like smoking or excessive
alcohol consumption to improve outcomes in major illnesses like cancer and cardiovascular disease.
Working with our partners to deliver the three priorities linked to the Buckinghamshire
Health and Wellbeing Strategy; Start Well, Live Well, Age Well. Influencing things like
housing, jobs and education to reduce health inequalities.
4. Diagnostics and Medicine Management:

Our vision for diagnostics is to have access to tests that can be performed close to home as
well as central capacity for more complex testing. By working in networks and investing in
digital technology we will be able to provide rapid test results that improve outcomes by
contributing to early diagnosis and treatment.



Working with other providers and using digital technologies including artificial
intelligence to deliver pathology and imaging results quickly and accurately.
Establishing outstanding diagnostic centres and community diagnostic hubs to improve
access to tests essential for early diagnosis and detection in major illnesses like cancer.
5. National Spinal Injuries centre and Rehabilitation:

Stoke Mandeville National Spinal Injuries Centre (NSIC) is the birthplace of the Paralympic
movement and the largest and most recognised spinal cord injury centre in the UK and
beyond. At the heart of Buckinghamshire’s Local Industrial Strategy is the contribution we
can make to our region’s economic growth and development. We will build on our heritage
and develop a centre of excellence for rehabilitation with an international reputation for
care, research and innovation.







Building on our expertise at the NSIC and our long history of rehabilitation stemming
back to the birth of the Paralympics we will develop an international centre of
excellence for rehabilitation.
Bringing together other services like Buckinghamshire Neurorehabilitation Unit (BNRU),
Community Head Injury Service (CHIS), Community Neurorehabilitation Service (CNRS),
psychology and therapies for people with conditions resulting from disease or injury to
the brain or nervous system.
Collaborating with Wheelpower to incorporate sports disability and rehabilitation and
become an exemplar site at Stoke Mandeville.
People will achieve their maximum potential for physical, mental, social and
psychological function as a result of bringing together this expertise along with research
and innovation.

Page 21

2.4 Our Key Enablers


Digital Strategy increasing the use of digital technologies (clinical and non-clinical) to
help clinical teams deliver the most effective and efficient care. Digital technology
will also enable people to take more control of their own care and access care quickly
and conveniently.



Estates and facilities investing in estates and facilities by upgrading, reconfiguring or
finding new sites. This will create net zero carbon, 21st Century environments and
remove old buildings and their associated £200m backlog maintenance. It will also
enable us to ensure we have enough space to meet the needs of our growing
population, maximise its use for clinical services and guarantee infection prevention
and control.



People Strategy investing in our people, making sure we have the right people with
the right skills in the right place. We are creating a compassionate culture that values
people working in inclusive innovative teams to deliver the best care for people that
use our services.



Financial Strategy ensuring that, as a local health economy, we deliver the best care
within the overall financial envelope available and ensure that sustainable, highquality services are provided within that envelope.

2.5 Estate Modernisation
Our clinical strategy is driving the configuration and any possible options for changes to our
hospital and community estate. We are keeping our options open at this stage. We will
engage with options and proposals with the community when they have been developed
and assessed towards the Spring of 2022.

3 Next steps and review
The HASC is asked to note and discuss Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust’s 2025;
‘Outstanding Care, Healthy Communities and A Great Place to Work’.

Page 22

Appendix

Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS
Trust
2025 Strategy

1
Any planned changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and involvement

Page 23

1/48

35/397

Introduction ......................................................................................................................... 3
Our Strategy on a Page ...................................................................................................... 4
Section 1: Our Strategic Context ....................................................................................... 5
Our Case for Change ........................................................................................................ 6
Changes in National Policy and Strategy ........................................................................... 9
Priorities in our Local and Regional System..................................................................... 13
Section 2: Our Strategy 2021 – 2025 ................................................................................ 19
Section 3: Our Clinical Strategy ....................................................................................... 23
Theme 1: Urgent and Emergency Care ........................................................................... 25
Theme 2: Planned Care .................................................................................................. 27
Theme 3: Integrated Communities................................................................................... 29
Theme 4: Diagnostics and Medicine Optimisation ........................................................... 33
Theme 5: National Spinal Injuries Centre and Rehabilitation ........................................... 35
Summary Critical Path for Clinical Strategy ..................................................................... 37
Section 4: Our Key Enabling Strategies .......................................................................... 38
People ............................................................................................................................. 38
IT and Digital Transformation .......................................................................................... 39
Estates ............................................................................................................................ 40
Finance ........................................................................................................................... 42
Summary Critical Path for Enabling Strategies ................................................................ 43
Section 5: Implementing our Strategy ............................................................................. 44
Strategic Programme Summary Timeline ........................................................................ 47
Closing Statement ........................................................................................................... 48

2
Any planned changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and involvement

Page 24

2/48

36/397

Introduction
Our current Trust strategy was approved in 2016. It supported us to achieve a CQC rating of
‘good’ in 2019 (‘outstanding’ for caring) and to be one of the first wave integrated care
systems in England. We have moved on, not least in responding to the largest global
pandemic for a century. We are updating our strategy to reflect the ways we have changed
how we deliver care and how we want to change in the future to provide outstanding care,
support healthy communities and be a great place to work.
Over the last 12 months we have looked afresh at our changing context. We have worked
with clinical colleagues to assess trends and themes in services that will ensure we are
successful over the next decade. We have led community engagement to involve people
and understand our operating context, our strengths and weaknesses and the impact of
COVID-19 to develop our clinical and enabling strategies. The clinical strategy is our driver
for change and enablers like estates, IT and people are critical to its success.
This strategy is central to Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership. We have a long
history of working together and have the ingredients for success – a single unitary council, a
largely federated general practice, an integrated acute and community NHS Trust, a thriving
voluntary sector and strong partners in mental health and the ambulance service. Being
situated within the London economic ecosystem and major growth corridors this strategy will
make a major contribution to the health and wealth of our region.
People are at the heart of this strategy. We are uniquely placed in our region as an
integrated Trust that provides acute hospital and community services alongside international
facilities like the Stoke Mandeville National Spinal Injuries Centre. Our strategy describes
some key changes including bringing rehabilitation services together as a centre of
excellence, strengthening emergency care and separating it from planned care services and
integrating community services. We want to realise the benefits of new technologies, new
models of care and invest significantly to re-shape our estate to make it fit for the 21st
century. Our strategy is set out in five sections:
Section 1: Our strategic context describes the environment we operate in and the significant
changes taking place nationally, regionally and locally. This section provides an indication of
what our people, patients, partners and the public have told us so far.
Section 2: Our strategy for 2025 sets out how we are going to achieve our vision and
strategic priorities. It provides a framework for service strategies that helps us align our plans
and get behind our shared vision.
Section 3: Our clinical strategy sets out high impact changes designed to deliver
outstanding care and meet the needs of the population we serve.
Section 4: Our enablers section provides an overview of strategies such as Estates, IT,
People and Finance that are essential to support delivery.
Section 5: Governance, assurance and communication show how progress and the delivery
of the strategy will be embedded, monitored, reviewed and communicated.
We will communicate widely about our plans, developing a range of materials to make it
accessible for everyone. We want people to get involved wherever possible. Whether a
patient, a carer, a family member or one of our people we cannot recover from the pandemic
or deliver this strategy without you. We want everyone to understand what these plans mean
for you and what your role is in achieving our vision.
3
Any planned changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and involvement

Page 25

3/48

37/397

Our Strategy on a Page

Page 26
4
Any planned changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and involvement

4/48

38/397

Section 1: Our Strategic Context
This section will:
• Set the context in which we have written this strategy by describing:
- Who we are, our achievements and the challenges we face.
- Changes in our population, in national policy and in regional and local plans and
priorities.
- What we have learned so far from listening to the public, patients, our partners and
our people.
• Summarise the issues that we need to address through our 2025 strategy.
Who We Are

Figure 1: A Brief History of Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust (BHT) is an integrated provider of acute hospital and
community services for people living in Buckinghamshire as well as some access for people
living in Berkshire, Bedfordshire, Hertfordshire, Oxfordshire and London. We provide care to
over half a million patients every year. At Stoke Mandeville Hospital, the birthplace of the
Paralympics, we provide specialist spinal services from our world renowned National Spinal
Injuries Centre (NSIC). We are also the regional centre for burns and plastics services and
stroke and cardiac services.
Our mission is to provide personal and compassionate care every time.
We deliver our services from a range of facilities:
5
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 27

5/48

39/397

• Different community settings – health centres, GP surgeries, schools and patient’s own
homes.
• Three community hospitals in Amersham, Buckingham and Chalfont & Gerrard’s Cross.
• Two community hubs at Thame and Marlow.
• Two acute hospitals located in the two most densely populated areas of the county – Stoke
Mandeville in Aylesbury and High Wycombe.
More than 6,000 people from different nations, cultures and backgrounds work for us. These
include highly trained doctors, nurses, midwives, health visitors, psychologists, therapists and
health scientists. They are supported by dedicated administrative and management within
corporate services.
Looking forward to 2025 and beyond, we will learn, share and improve in the areas we can do
better. It is important to recognise and celebrate so many of the amazing things we have
achieved to get us to where we are today. Not least, the recognition by the CQC of ‘significant
and sustained improvement throughout the Trust’ to award us a ‘good’ overall rating with
‘outstanding’ in the caring domain in 2019. This is the foundation of our strategy to build
towards delivering outstanding care for our patients and support our communities to be
healthy.

Our Case for Change

Figure 2: A summary of our operating context
Our vision is for outstanding care, healthy communities and a great place to work. To
meet the changing needs of the population, especially those living in deprived areas, will
require significant transformation of how we and our partners provide care.
There is high demand for care and people have increasingly complex needs. In
Buckinghamshire alone we are expecting significant population growth. We have operational
6
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 28

6/48

40/397

challenges running acute services (including intensive care) across two sites and resource
challenges including people, finances and old estates. Transforming what we do will involve
developing new ways of working, creating new partnerships as well as requiring investment
in new facilities, equipment, innovation and new technologies.
Population Growth and Health Inequalities

Figure 3: Life expectancy by PCN. Demonstrates link between deprivation and life
expectancy
There are projected to be approximately 75,000 more people living in
Buckinghamshire by 2030 (14.4% increase from 2018)1. There will be over
50% more people aged over 85. While people are living longer not all these
years of life are in good health. 1 in 5 adults is physically inactive. 2 in 3 adults
are overweight or obese. 1 in 9 adults smoke. 1 in 5 adults drink harmful
levels of alcohol.
Analysis shows that starting from birth and continuing throughout life, people
living in the most deprived areas have poorer health and the worst health
outcomes. In our most deprived areas, there is higher prevalence of low
birthweight and infant mortality and higher levels of long-term conditions.
There is lower uptake of health screening and higher rates emergency
admissions. In our most deprived areas, the premature death rate (deaths
under 75) is twice that of the least deprived areas.
Mental Health
Demand for mental health services for young people and for adults will continue to grow.
Across England approximately 1 in 6 adults experience a common mental disorder (such as
anxiety or depression) in any given week. Half of mental health problems are established by
the age of 14, rising to 75% by the age of 24. In the UK, suicide is the leading cause of
death among young people aged 20-34 years. COVID-19 has taken its toll mentally and
1

Director of Public Health:2020 Annual Report. This projection excludes housing projections.

7
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 29

7/48

41/397

physically. During the crisis eating disorders and self-harm in young people has increased. It
is likely the emotional effects of COVID-19 will be felt by our families, communities and
colleagues long after the peak of the pandemic has passed.
Digital Exclusion and Data Poverty
In an increasingly digital age, those who are not engaging effectively with the digital world
are at risk of being left behind. Technological change means that digital skills are
increasingly important for connecting with others, accessing information and services and
meetings the changing demands of the workplace and economy. This is leading to a digital
divide between those who have access to information and communications technology and
those who do not, giving rise to inequalities in access to opportunities, knowledge, services
and goods. As we realise the benefits of digital transformation, we need to make sure we
bring all our communities with us. It is especially important to ensure we guarantee it is safe,
clinically and from the point of view of how data and information is used.
The Impact of COVID-19
COVID-19 is having a profound impact not only on health and social care but on society. We
cannot develop our strategy for the future without considering its impacts.

Figure 4: A summary of some of the main impacts of COVID-19.
We need to understand the long-term impacts of the pandemic on how people access health
and social care such as GP, hospital or other care appointments. During 2020, we rapidly
accelerated our plans to provide telephone and video consultations. We enabled our people
to work more flexibly and to work at home.
We made changes to our estate to meet the requirements for infection control and social
distancing. We changed waiting areas, inpatient areas and invested in new buildings (such
as same day emergency care) and new mortuary facilities at Stoke Mandeville.
8
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 30

8/48

42/397

Many of these changes were introduced rapidly because of the COVID-19 emergency
response. There was limited time to engage people working in health and social care and
people that use our services on some of the changes. We are now in the process of
embedding an approach to engagement for the long-term to help make them more
sustainable.

Changes in National Policy and Strategy
Our strategy has evolved considering influences and key changes in national strategies and
policies described in the following section.
The NHS Long Term Plan
The NHS Long Term Plan was published in January 2019 and sets out how the NHS will
change to ensure:
• Everyone has the best start in life including support for new mums, children with obesity,
cancer and mental health.
• We deliver world-class care for major health problems such as cancer, cardiovascular
disease, stroke, mental health and dementia.
• People are supported to age well encouraging care that supports independence as well
as support for care homes.
It outlines five major, practical changes to the NHS service model to be delivered over the
next five years:
• Boosting ‘out-of-hospital’ care and joining up primary and community
health services.
• Redesigning and reducing pressure on emergency hospital services.
• Giving people more control over their own health and more
personalised care when they need it.
• Digitally enabled primary and outpatient care mainstreaming across
the NHS.
• Local NHS organisations increasingly focussing on population health
and local partnerships with local authority-funded services, through new integrated care
systems (ICS) and partnerships (ICP).
The NHS Response to COVID-19: Recovery and Renewal
It is essential now to be prepared for future waves of the virus (and other viruses) and to
restore service provision, building on what we have learnt so that we can support the
greatest possible improvements in health and wellbeing for everyone. This will include:
• Separating emergency services from planned care services to ensure we can deliver
safe, uninterrupted care.
• Responding to the impacts of Long COVID.
• A step change on inequalities and population health.
• Lasting reform for social care.
• Putting our people centre stage and making the NHS (and wider care sector) a great
place to work.
• Embedding and accelerating digital change.
9
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 31

9/48

43/397

Global Warming and Climate Change
In October 2020, the NHS committed to be the world’s first carbon net zero national health
system. This strives to reach an 80% reduction by 2032 and become net zero by 2040. The
plan also outlines the idea of the NHS as an 'anchor institution', which is an important
concept to promote an understanding of the NHS' contribution and responsibility to the local
economy, society and environment.
NHS People Plan
We are the NHS: People Plan 2020/212 – action for us all outlines the
actions organisations, employers and the workforce will need to take to
transform the NHS workforce. Central to the plan is Our People Promise
which outlines behaviours and actions people can expect from NHS leaders
and colleagues, to improve the experience of working in the NHS for
everyone.
Actions within the plan fall under the following themes:
• Looking after our people – with quality health and wellbeing support for everyone
belonging in the NHS and a focus on diversity and inclusion and tackling bullying,
harassment and discrimination.
• New ways of working and delivering care – making effective use of the full range of our
people’s skills and experience.
• Growing for the future – how we recruit and keep our people, and welcome back
colleagues who want to return.
The Carter Report (June 2015)
Lord Carter of Coles produced two independent reports “Operational productivity and
performance in English NHS acute hospitals: unwarranted variations”3 and “NHS
operational productivity: unwarranted variations in mental health services and
community health services”4 for the Department of Health (DH) with the aim of identifying
efficiency opportunities across NHS providers. The reports explore workforce, hospital
pharmacy and medicines optimisation, estates management, and procurement.
As a result, NHS Improvement established The Model Hospital5 benchmarking tool to
support the NHS to identify and realise opportunities to deliver the best patient care in the
most efficient way. We use the data to explore how we compare to similar Trusts on
productivity, quality and responsiveness, to provide a clearer view of improvement
opportunities.
Getting it Right First Time6 (GiRFT) was also created as a national programme to reduce
clinical and operational variation in care; working to the principle that anyone attending a
hospital anywhere in England should expect treatment with minimal clinical variation. At a
system level we will continue to focus our efforts on high volume, low complexity procedures
to reduce variation and improve the value of planned care we provide.

2 https://www.england.nhs.uk/ournhspeople/
3

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/499229/
Operational_productivity_A.pdf
4
Microsoft Word - 20180524 NHS operational productivity - Unwarranted variations - Mental health and
community health services (england.nhs.uk)
5
https://improvement.nhs.uk/resources/model-hospital/
6
Getting It Right First Time - GIRFT

10
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 32

10/48

44/397

The Naylor Review (March 2017)
Sir Robert Naylor’s review NHS Property and Estates: Why the estate matters for
patients was published in March 2017. It set out to develop a new NHS estate strategy.
The report contains ambitious proposals for the future of the entire health estate and
recognises the significant investment needed to achieve STP (now ICS) proposals. It calls
for the NHS to develop robust capital plans which:
• Align with clinical strategies.
• Maximise value for money (including land sales).
• Address backlog maintenance.
Integration and Innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all7
(February 2021)
On 11 February 2021 the Department of Health and Social Care (DHSC) published the
White Paper which sets out legislative proposals for a health and care bill. It brings together
proposals that build on the recommendations made by the NHSE/I in their December
consultation with additional ones relating to the Secretary of State’s powers over the system
and changes to public health, social care and quality and safety matters. Proposals are
grouped together under the following themes:
• Working together and supporting integration.
Establishing Integrated Care Systems (ICSs) in statute, working closely with health and
Wellbeing Boards and transferring duties of Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to them.
They will set up an ICS Board in charge of setting strategic direction, NHS planning and
allocation decisions and accountable for NHS spend and performance. Also they will
establish Health and Care Partnerships to support integration with partners such as social
care and public health. Places, such as Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership (ICP),
will be free to arrange ourselves.
• Stripping out needless bureaucracy.
The proposals represent a shift away from the focus on competition towards a new model of
collaboration, partnership and integration. It removes some competition and procurement
rules whereby the NHS will be free to make decision on how it organises itself without the
involvement of the Competition and Market Authority (CMA). Changes to the national tariff
will enable payment mechanisms to work more flexibly encouraging system approaches.
• Enhancing public confidence and accountability.
Along with the formal merger of NHS England and NHS Improvement the proposals expand
the power of the Secretary of State making it easier to set objectives, to direct NHSE/I,
create new Trusts, intervene in reconfiguration disputes and amend/abolish Arm’s Length
Bodies (ALBs).
• Additional proposals to support public health, social care and quality and safety.
These include enhanced assurance frameworks for adult social care and standalone power
for the Better Care Fund (BCF), separating it from the NHS mandate setting process. Making
7

Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all (HTML
version) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
11
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 33

11/48

45/397

it easier for the Secretary of State to direct NHS England on specific public health functions
and set requirements in relation to things like hospital food. Finally establishing Health
Services Safety Investigations Body (HSSIB) ad statutory medical examiner system.
Diagnostics: Recovery and Renewal (October 2020)
Professor Sir Mike Richards led the development of the report8 proposing major expansion
of diagnostic capacity. Without this expansion many of our commitments on cancer, heart
disease, stroke, respiratory disease and other conditions along with reforms in same day
emergency care and outpatient services will be jeopardised. The following key actions can
be defined:
• Acute and elective diagnostics should be separated wherever possible to increase
efficiency.
• Acute diagnostics (for A&E and inpatient care) should be improved so that patients who
require CT scanning and ultrasound from A&E can be imaged without delay.
• Community diagnostic hubs should be established away from acute hospital sites.
• Diagnostic services should be organised so that as far as possible patients only have to
attend once.
• Community phlebotomy services should be improved, so all patients can have blood
samples taken close to home, at least six days a week, without needing to come to acute
hospitals.
• Regional Pathology and Imaging networks should be established to reduce unwarranted
variation, provide better quality and better value care and provide opportunities for people
development.
National Maternity Review (February 2016)
The Better Births: Improving Outcomes of Maternity Services in England9 sets out a
vision for maternity services across England to become safer, more personalised, kinder,
professional and more family friendly. It notes that providers will need to evolve the nature of
the service offering, looking beyond the traditional boundary of the acute settings and into
the community.
Commissioners and providers should work towards bringing services together in community
hubs and providing continuity of carer for an increasing proportion of their community. This
will require changes to workforce practices, and how services are designed and work with
each other. The report envisages more births taking place in the community, i.e. in midwifery
care and at home. As a result, there may be lower demand for obstetric services, which must
nevertheless remain easily accessible to those who need them. Obstetric units will require
appropriate local configuration to satisfy demands for safety as well as access.
In December 2020, The Ockenden Review of maternity services at Shrewsbury and
Telford NHS Trust10 made system-wide recommendations to improve maternity care. These
included ensuring there is a non-executive with responsibility for ensuring women and family
voices are represented at board level. It also made specific recommendations about staff
training and working together, managing complex pregnancy and monitoring foetal
wellbeing.
8

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/BM2025Pu-item-5-diagnostics-recovery-andrenewal.pdf
9
https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/national-maternity-review-report.pdf
10
OCKENDEN REPORT - MATERNITY SERVICES AT THE SHREWSBURY AND TELFORD HOSPITAL NHS TRUST
(publishing.service.gov.uk)

12
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 34

12/48

46/397

Priorities in our Local and Regional System
Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire West Integrated Care System (ICS)

Figure 5: Defining the structures for integrated care.
The BOB ICS covers a population of approximately 1.8 million people, stretching from
Banbury in the North to Wokingham/Riseley in the South, from Hungerford in the West to
Amersham in the East. It comprises many NHS Trusts, Clinical Commissioning Groups
(CCGs) and Local Authorities.
Increasingly the ICS will be an integral part of the NHS’s strategic approach to integrating
care that proposes to put ICSs on a statutory footing in the NHS Bill. Roles and
responsibilities will be devolved from national and regional teams including responsibilities
for commissioning services, financial management (including care budgets and capital
plans). The White Paper recognises the important leadership role providers have with a new
emphasis on at-scale provider collaboratives at system (ICS) and place level (ICP).
We are developing our strategy within the context of being a key part of the ICS and the ICP
and our shared triple aim of improving patient outcomes, improving patient experience and
achieving financial balance. Our strategy will align with the BOB ICS strategy, help to build
momentum in integrated care and strengthen our links particularly with other providers,
especially the tertiary centres. Our strategy will support major hospitals as trauma centres as
well as specialist care centres as we develop a strong network of District General Hospitals.
Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership (ICP)
The organisations responsible for most mental health, social care and physical health care
services in Buckinghamshire have joined to create an Integrated Care Partnership (ICP).
The health and social care partners are Buckinghamshire Clinical Commissioning Group
(CCG), Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust, Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust,
13
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 35

13/48

47/397

FedBucks (a group of GP practices covering most of Buckinghamshire), Buckinghamshire
Council and South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust (SCAS).

Figure 6: Buckinghamshire ICP - Our Journey So Far
We have a long history of working together. Between us we are responsible for buying and
providing health and care services across the county. We have many of the ingredients to
make integrated care a success – a single unitary council, a largely federated general
practice, an integrated acute and community NHS Trust as well as strong partners in mental
health and the ambulance service. Increasingly we will join our services, our people and
expertise together to address some of the wider determinants of health, with an emphasis on
prevention and reducing health inequalities. Our aims include:
• Greater support for frail people and people with long-term needs in their communities.
• If people need urgent help (and it is not an emergency) we will work together to help
people get to the right place as close to home as possible.
• By working together with community organisations, community groups, patients and
residents we hope to be able to do more to prevent illnesses.
• There will be benefits for people working in health and social care through improved
collaboration and closer working making care easier and more efficient.
As an ICP we will build an NHS and social care fit for the 21st century. People will have the
same high quality care wherever they are, and we will create safe, sustainable services to
meet the changing needs of our rapidly growing population.
Community Boards and Primary Care Networks
The emergence of new structures in the community is helping us to develop stronger
connections locally and find the most effective and efficient ways of delivering care close to
people’s homes.

14
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 36

14/48

48/397

Figure 7: 12 Primary Care Networks and 16 Community Boards
Community Boards are a new way of bringing the council, groups, organisations and
people together to look at local issues and find ways of improving them. As a community-led
partnership Community Boards will:
•
•
•
•
•

Influence how decisions are made and how services are delivered.
Represent the voice of local people.
Capture thoughts, ideas and suggestions.
Bring together key community partners and residents.
Identify local needs and work to produce creative solutions.

The Boards will use local data, intelligence and the views of people and partners in the
community to identify key areas of focus and priorities. Already things like the local health
and wellbeing profiles11 have offered fantastic insights and resource for developing plans.
Another new local structure is the development of Primary Care Networks (PCNs). They
are a key building block of the NHS Long Term Plan. They are designed to bring general
practices together to work at scale (between 30,000 and 50,000 population). A key role of
these networks is to provide a wide range of services locally as well as make it easier to
integrate with the wider health and care system.
PCNs are expected to deliver services set out in a national service specification that began
in 2020/21 with structured medication reviews, enhanced health in care homes and early
diagnosis of cancer. Anticipatory care (with community services), personalised care,
cardiovascular disease case-finding and locally agreed action to tackle health inequalities
are set to follow.

11

http://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/local-profiles

15
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 37

15/48

49/397

Importantly for us networks will be the footprint around which integrated community-based
care will develop. Community and mental health services as well as social care services and
local community-based organisations will work together with often groups of PCNs to
configure services that meet the needs of the populations they cover.
Health and Wellbeing Strategy12
The county’s joint health and wellbeing strategy is currently being refreshed. The plan
proposes three key priority areas for 2021-2023:
• Start Well: Focussing on improving the health and wellbeing outcomes of children and
young people to ensure every child in Buckinghamshire has the best possible start in life.
• Live Well: Ensuring all residents have the choice and skills to live healthier lifestyles,
greater connectivity with their local communities, live in resilient neighbourhoods and feel
safe and protected.
• Age Well: With a projected increase in the proportion of older people in
Buckinghamshire, this priority area has a focus on people entering older age with
healthier lifestyles and providing the right support at the right time.
The health and wellbeing board plays a pivotal role and provides oversight and sets the
strategic direction for delivery of improvements to the health and wellbeing of our local
population in Buckinghamshire.
Buckinghamshire Local Industrial Strategy and Economic Growth
Buckinghamshire Thames Valley Local Enterprise Partnership (BTVLEP)
has developed a local industrial strategy. The Buckinghamshire Local
Industrial Strategy (LIS) sets out a programme of activity to ensure that the
county can exploit Buckinghamshire’s location at the centre of the Oxford
to Cambridge Growth Corridor and as part of the London economic
ecosystem region to maximize the contribution of economic assets to the
national and local economies. We have a pivotal role in the economic
recovery and growth in our region and delivering this strategy is central to
our Local Growth Strategy. A key focus of the LIS is on Buckinghamshire’s
unique assets that underpin the Trust vision to revolutionise the delivery of health and care
services. These assets are:
• The Stoke Mandeville National Spinal Injuries Centre.
• The Stoke Mandeville health and social care innovation centre.
• Buckinghamshire Health and Social Care Ventures (HSC Ventures13) that promotes
enterprise and innovation in health and social care products and services.
Buckinghamshire Council
At the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, Buckinghamshire’s local government structure
underwent one of the most significant changes in its history. On 1 April, the five standing
Councils were dissolved, and the new unitary authority of Buckinghamshire Council came
into existence.

12
13

http://www.healthandwellbeingbucks.org/health-and-wellbeing-board
https://hscventures.co.uk/

16
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 38

16/48

50/397

The creation of a single authority enables the Council to take a broader view of the health
and wellbeing of residents and link areas such housing, leisure and the environment to
support healthier lives in the county.
SWOT Analysis
Below is a summary of the key elements of our SWOT14 analysis of our external and internal
environment.
•
•

•

•

•

•
•

•
•

•
•

14

Strengths
Integrated acute and community care
provider.
Areas of international expertise and
regional specialism e.g. national spinal
injuries centre (NSIC), burns and
plastics.
Research and innovation – an active
research organisation in the top 10 of
national research league tables with
high levels of recruitment to research
and studies.
Good partnerships and working
relationships in Buckinghamshire,
especially with ICP partners and
charities.
CQC outstanding services including
emergency department, outpatients,
community, National Spinal Injuries
Centre and end of life care.
Highly committed and skilled people.
Strong support and backing from
patients, families and the communities.

Opportunities
Good CQC rating (outstanding in caring)
is a foundation to progress to
outstanding overall.
Large employer with an engaged and
committed people to lead changes and
contribute to our role as an anchor
institute.
Our role in the Local Industrial Strategy
and Growth Board to contribute to
growth and development in the region.
Recent investment in diagnostic
capacity (MRI, CT scanners) and
partners in pathology and imaging
network to provide care and improve
outcomes over a wider geography.

•

•
•
•

•

•

•
•
•

•
•

Weaknesses
Old and poorly configured estate that
makes meeting access standards and
delivering financial sustainability very
difficult.
Variable performance against
constitutional access standards.
People shortages in some key
professions and services.
Old estate with high levels of backlog
maintenance (circa £200m) across
Wycombe and Stoke Mandeville limiting
our ability to safely and sustainably
upgrade or modify current buildings.
Digital maturity. Aging IT equipment,
networks and operating systems as well
as some issues with interoperability. We
have received significant funding in
2020 to begin to update our IT.
Operating a ‘split site’ acute hospital
model with ICU, stroke and cardiac at
Wycombe separate from Stoke
Mandeville emergency services. This
leads to some duplication, people
challenges and inefficiencies.
Threats
Future pandemics and impact on
people, clinical services and buildings.
Unable to separate emergency services
and planned care services affecting our
ability to deliver uninterrupted care.
Growing demand and increasing
complexity of health care needs of our
patients, especially elderly patients with
frailty.
Rapidly growing population with
significant additional housing planned
over the next 10-15 years.
Uncertainties about the future workforce
(including training and the impact of EU
Exit).

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities, Threats

17
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 39

17/48

51/397

• The Paralympic legacy and heritage and
links with Wheelpower15 to facilitate the
development of a centre of excellence
for rehabilitation that incorporates sport.
• Recent investment in IT improvements
will give us a platform to improve patient
access, new ways of delivering care,
clinical and workflow applications and
efficiency.
• We know we can make our services
more efficient based on benchmarking
with other NHS trusts.
• Closer working relationships with
partners such as GPs and the Council
to improve the health of the community
• The emergence of new structures
including Buckinghamshire Council, ICS
and PCNs and Buckinghamshire’s
devolution bid.
Figure 8: Summary SWOT Analysis

15

• Further uncertainty and changes in the
health and care system – including
changes to commissioning.
• Health inequalities and areas of
deprivation. Buckinghamshire has large
inequalities with people in deprived
areas having shorter life expectancy.
Complex transformation and partnership
working are required to address wider
determinants of health.
• Financial sustainability. Prior to COVID19 we had an underlying deficit of £30m.
• Future payment and contracting
mechanisms are unclear.
• Capital funding and regulation to enable
significant transformation over the
coming 5-10 years in estates and IT.

https://www.wheelpower.org.uk/

18
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 40

18/48

52/397

Section 2: Our Strategy 2021 – 2025
This section will:
•
•
•

Confirm the Trust’s mission, vision and values.
Present the Trust’s strategic priorities.
Provide us with our strategic framework to guide our detailed planning.

Figure 9: What good looks like.
Our Trust strategy was approved in 2016 and supported us on our journey to achieve a CQC
rating of ‘Good’ in 2019 (‘outstanding’ in caring) and become one of the first wave integrated
care systems in England. Our revised strategy needs to reflect how we have changed and
how we will change in the future to meet the needs of populations we serve.
Our vision is Outstanding Care, Healthy Communities and a Great Place to Work. It
encapsulates our aspirations to be outstanding and reduce health inequalities. It is clear
about our focus on people. We are developing our compassionate culture that values
diversity and inclusion, involves and enables everyone to be proud of the care we provide.
Our Strategic Framework

Figure 10: Strategic Framework
19
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 41

19/48

53/397

The strategic framework identifies how we will deliver our vision through our three strategic
priorities. Each priority has joint executive leaders and high impact changes and strategies,
around which we will plan, deliver and guide our decisions between now and 2025.

Figure 11: Summary of our strategic priorities and objectives
Engaging Our People and Co-design
During September and October 2020, we undertook an engagement exercise to gain insight
about our mission and values. Over 300 people took part either with the online poll or focus
groups (75% of participants were working in clinical roles).
Feedback suggested our mission statement resonates and is relevant. There were some
suggestions of potential changes or things to consider as part of the strategy to make it more
ambitious and reflect the changing context. While the CARE values are familiar the
associated behaviours framework appears to be less well embedded and understood.
In November 2020 we agreed the following recommendations:
• Retain the current mission because it still resonates and remains relevant.
• Amend the mission statement and remove the word ‘safe’ because it was felt this is
implicit in providing outstanding care. It was suggested to replace it with ‘personal’ as this
speaks to the changing care context, patient choice and personalisation. The mission
statement has therefore become ‘Personal and compassionate care every time’.
• Reference prevention, integration, innovation, collaboration (across place and system)
within the Trust strategy.
Engaging our people is ongoing and fundamental to ensuring our plans are realistic,
deliverable and sustainable. A great deal of this work will underpin the development and
changes in our cultures. The next steps that will begin in 2021 are:
• Develop a new CARE values framework that identifies expectations at an individual and
organisational level. This will involve removing negative behaviours and re-positioning the
framework within the positive and psychologically safe environment we wish to create.
• Discuss whether we want to change the CARE value from ‘Enable’ to ‘Empower’.
• Create a pact that forms the basis of a change in emphasis from a negative ‘performance
management’ to a more positive ‘performance motivation’ culture.
20
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 42

20/48

54/397

Public Engagement and Co-design
Over the last few years Buckinghamshire ICP has undertaken engagement activities that
relate to developing an integrated way of working. During the COVID-19 emergency we
made changes in the interests of protecting the health of the population. If there are
changes, we have made, or changes we are considering, that we would like to make
permanently we need to engage the public.
Good communication and feedback from a diverse range of people alongside clinical
perspectives will improve our understanding of the impacts of Covid-19 and the changes we
have made. Each interaction is an opportunity to identify things we may not have considered
and to work with people to make changes sustainable.
We are committed to getting better at reaching the people in our county we
do not often reach, the people living in deprived areas or from minority
groups who often have the worst health outcomes.
During August 2020 we launched phase 1 of a public engagement
programme to ask people what they think about changes we have made, or
are considering, in four key areas: virtual appointments, keeping people
safe, integrated communities and health inequalities.
Phase 2 of the programme was designed to complement phase 1 and reach a more diverse
range of people. We appointed Verve Communications as an independent expert to conduct
twelve focus groups and twenty-four individual interviews. In total 83 people participated
from specific groups such as carers, people living with disability, people living in deprived
areas, people from Buckinghamshire’s black or Asian minority ethnic groups, people from
the LGBTQ+ community. The work took place between 25 November 2020 and 21
December 2020 while COVID restrictions were in place so focus groups and interviews were
conducted online (using Zoom) or by telephone.
The following is a summary of findings:
• 2,818 responses to the online survey. Most respondents (72%) were women. 90% of
respondents were white. The average age of respondents was 61 years and 44% were
over 65.
• 2/3rd of people said they would like healthier lifestyles. There was great receptiveness to
professional advice to help lose weight or improve mental health and wellbeing. Less for
alcohol and smoking although still receptive. However, during focus groups people felt
public health messages are likely to have less affect than changes in policy such as the
smoking ban. They also felt more work with children and families would have a greater
impact in reducing unhealthy behaviours.
• People were generally satisfied with digital (phone/video) appointments and would be
willing to have similar appointments in the future (69%). This trend reduces with age. The
main concern people have is that when a physical examination is needed, they would
want to be seen in-person.
• 62% of people stated they would be willing to travel to neighbouring county for a planned
hospital procedure if it meant they had a shorter wait. The main concerns for people were
frequency (they would not want to do it often), the time it would take and lack of familiarity
of the location. During phase 2 it became clear that concerns about public transport were
considered the main barrier.
• People are generally satisfied with their experiences of urgent care services. Over half
(55%) said they would be happy to book an urgent care appointment with 26% unsure
and 19% said no. We need to clearly articulate the distinction between urgent and
21
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 43

21/48

55/397

emergency services. We also need to assure people about the clinical credibility of the
system to get people to the right place and avoid long waits in hospital A&E.
• Community services are more difficult to interpret because of the relatively low response
of people with experience of community hospitals (9%). However, from the responses
66% of people said they would prefer to recover at home than in hospital as long it is
safe. During some conversations in phase 2 people expressed enthusiasm for the
community hub model but also felt access to beds, particularly for step-up or step-down
care, was important.
Main Conclusions
• Better communication is a consistent theme. Particularly people want clarity about access
to appointments – whether by phone, online or in-person. People want clear, credible and
consistent information about changes particularly for accessing appointments by phone or
video, urgent care or changes to inpatient community services.
• It seems many people would be receptive to messaging and promotions about healthier
lifestyle choices, especially around weight loss and mental wellbeing. People felt
interventions that address the wider determinants of health e.g. housing, employment as
well as support younger generations to prevent future illnesses would be effective. People
also felt better targeting of more vulnerable populations such as those living in deprived
areas would be a good idea.
• Work is needed to ensure patients understand when and why digital consultations and
appointments are offered. It is important to clarify when people need a physical
examination, they will be available. It is also important to bear in mind the different needs
of people because of things like age, disability or English as a second language.
• Many people expressed willingness to travel on a one-time basis for treatment further
from home. However, older people found this problematic, especially travelling on public
transport. Future considerations should be given to setting clear criteria on
appropriateness including frequency of visits, travel required and age appropriateness.
• Dissatisfaction with services tended to relate to waiting times and delays, it is possible
that having a better system to direct people to appropriate care and care settings could
reduce delays and improve satisfaction.
• There is scope for raising awareness about the distinction between emergency and
urgent services. It will also be important to provide information about NHS111 to provide
clinical credibility and encourage service usage.
• When we consider changes to services such as A&E or community inpatient services
people want clear and credible information. They require greater levels of understanding,
evidence, credibility and assurance that changes will be safe and access with be fair.
All this activity provides vital information for our strategy and lays a strong foundation for
involvement and engagement in the future.

22
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 44

22/48

56/397

Section 3: Our Clinical Strategy
This section will:
• Set out how we will achieve our vision, priorities and objectives through delivering our
clinical strategy.
• Summarise the high-level impacts and changes that will be delivered in the coming 3-5
years.

Figure 12: Five themes of our clinical strategy
In November 2019 we held a Clinical Leadership Workshop where the five themes of our
clinical strategy emerged. Prior to the COVID-19 response we held further engagement
events in December 2019 and January 2020 as part of the process of developing options
and priorities set out below.
Our strategy must prepare us for future pandemics and enable us to deliver outstanding
integrated care with greater guarantees of infection prevention and control. It must enable us
to be financially sustainable by reducing the inefficiencies of delivering critical care from old
estate across two sites and tackle our £200m backlog maintenance.
Our current acute hospital services are split between Stoke Mandeville and Wycombe with
the emergency department at Stoke Mandeville and cardiac and stroke services at
Wycombe. Critical care services are provided across both sites which presents operational
and financial challenges managing medical and nursing rotas.
The COVID-19 crisis has highlighted the challenges of trying to separate patients into socalled ‘green’ and ‘red’ zones. There is a stronger case than ever for separating planned and
unplanned care services. It has underlined the risks of hospital acquired infection in
overcrowded departments and impacted our ability to continue to deliver essential planned
care services alongside emergency services.

23
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 45

23/48

57/397

We can strengthen emergency care services and deliver them on a single site to reduce
duplication and improve quality with higher volumes of activity at the same time making it
easier for blue light services.
Separating emergency services from elective services will provide us with a greater chance
of delivering planned care without the intrusion of emergency demand. A focus on elective
care will be highly productive with rapid accurate testing, low bed occupancy and good
theatre utilisation. It will be reliable and there will be fewer cancellations. Developing an
elective care centre will deliver high volume expert care and achieve outstanding outcomes
alongside a cancer care centre and regional diagnostics hub to improve outcomes in cancer.
Key Principles for our Clinical Strategy

Figure 13: Key principles of our clinical strategy
• Strengthen emergency services (theatres, intensive care, and emergency department,
stroke, cardiac and maternity) and deliver them together on a single acute hospital site.
• Establish a world-class planned care centre including cancer services and robotic
surgery, separate from emergency services.
• Integrate community care with Buckinghamshire Council and Primary Care Networks
(PCNs).
• Create a centre of excellence for rehabilitation at Stoke Mandeville and potentially other
centres to support regional or national networks such as cancer.
• Create diagnostics hubs and pathology and imaging networks with other providers to
support clinical services and improve outcomes in cancer.
• Increase digital (phone, video or app) outpatient follow-up care and the use of NHS111
for urgent care so we can provide ‘Care Anywhere’.
• Improve our estate either by updating and reconfiguring existing hospitals or identifying
new sites and locations for some or all services.
24
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 46

24/48

58/397

• Financial sustainability by investing in change, doing different things, addressing
inefficiencies and unwarranted variation and adopting new technologies.
• Public and workforce engagement is fundamental to the successful development and
delivery of our services.
Throughout 2021 we will work with our clinical teams and health planners to design and
develop detailed strategic plans including:
• Clinical priorities and objectives.
• Capacity and demand planning, due diligence and benchmarking.
• Consideration of new ways of working and future requirements (e.g. the impact of
increasing digital care provision).
• Schedules of accommodation considering future requirements.
• Clinical and patient pathways.
• Consideration and development of operational policies.

Theme 1: Urgent and Emergency Care
Emergency Care Services provide treatment for life-threatening conditions e.g.
chest pains or a serious road accident. Most people will need an ambulance to
take them to the emergency department.
Urgent Care Services offer advice and treatment for accidents, minor illnesses or
injuries that require urgent attention but are not life-threatening. Services include
NHS111 either by phone or online and may direct you to a Clinical Assessment
Service (CAS), pharmacy, 24/7 GP appointments or an Urgent Treatment Centre.
Urgent and emergency care services perform a critical role in keeping the population
healthy. The NHS responds to more than 110 million urgent calls or visits every year, at
Stoke Mandeville Hospital’s Emergency Department (ED) alone there are on average 8,000
attendances every month.
Urgent and Emergency Care Transformation
Our vision is to work with our partners to provide highly responsive urgent care services
close to home. For more serious or life-threatening emergency care needs we will offer
centralised care with the very best expertise, from the best facilities to maximise the chances
of survival and a good recovery. Translating this vision into reality will mean:
At BOB ICS Level:
Trauma Network
People who suffer serious injury (known as major trauma) need the highest quality specialist
care to give them the best chances of survival and recovery. We will continue to develop as
one of five major trauma networks in the south of England. This means working closely with
Oxford University Hospitals NHS FT (OUHFT) as our Major Trauma Centre (MTC) for
treating the most seriously injured patients while we are responsible for treating people with
less serious injuries. We will also ensure early access to our world class rehabilitation that
supports people to reach their maximum potential after a traumatic event.
NHS 111

25
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 47

25/48

59/397

From our engagement programmes we have learnt people want clarity about the different
services available and how to access them. We will work together with our ICS partners to
increase awareness and improve people’s understanding and trust of the NHS 111 system.
We will work with South Central Ambulance Service (SCAS) to use their clinical and logistics
expertise to ensure people with emergency needs get to hospital as quickly as possible. We
will encourage people to use NHS 111 by phone or online and we will direct them to the right
service first time.
Mental Health Crisis Response
We are working in partnership with Oxford Health NHS Foundation Trust to include effective
urgent care responses for people with mental health needs including psychiatric in-reach
and liaison (PIRLS) in the emergency department, home crisis treatment, crisis cafes and
street triage in the community. We will integrate with NHS111, our Urgent Treatment Centre
and emergency department for children, young people and adults.
At Buckinghamshire ICP Level:
Countywide Urgent Care
We will transform the current countywide urgent care services with South Central Ambulance
Service (SCAS) and Primary Care Networks (PCNs) to ensure there is good access to local
urgent care 24/7 to support people at home and avoid unnecessary hospital attendances.
We will promote the range of 24/7 urgent care services accessible via NHS111 which can
refer directly to Urgent Treatment Centres (at Wycombe), general practice, A&E and
community services such as pharmacists. Everything we do will ensure an integrated,
responsive healthcare service that helps people stay well at home and receive preventative
or primary treatment before it becomes an emergency.
Integrated Communities
Community and primary care services will work together with social care services provided
by Buckinghamshire Council to ensure we have an integrated, responsive service that helps
people stay well at home for as long as possible. We will work with communities to identify
the most vulnerable people, promote health and well-being and over time prevent the
progression of illnesses. We will build a better future for all children and young people
whatever their starting point.
We recognise the system is complicated. It can be difficult for people to navigate and can
result in frustration, duplication and confusion. Our aim is to work together to simplify the
system, make it easier for people to get the care they need. We will integrate services such
as our Rapid Response and Intermediate Care (RRIC) with Buckinghamshire Council’s
Reablement to deliver better outcomes for people.
Our principle of ‘home first’ will do everything we can to provide support and care (medical
and social) to help people get home safely and quickly after a hospital stay. This will benefit
people with complex needs, people living with frailty and people who have urgent care
needs.
Patient Flow
We will continue to focus our efforts to reduce the length of time people stay in hospital. We
will work with our ICP partners, especially adult social care, to facilitate rapid, safe
discharges from hospital with the right level of support and care available. We will support
26
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 48

26/48

60/397

care homes to ensure we provide access to advice and guidance and support when it is
needed.
Same Day Emergency Care
Children’s acute care is a strategic priority. Demand has increased and is expected to
continue to increase as the population grows in the coming years.
To support children getting the best start in life we will establish and strengthen our acute
paediatric care with a new unit at Stoke Mandeville. The existing space used by children’s
acute services will be released and act as a key enabler for wider improvements in adult
emergency care. The benefits for children’s services will include ending overcrowding,
reductions in inpatient admissions and overnight stays for children and improved quality of
care within a dedicated children’s unit.
We will also maximise the number of patients treated without being admitted to hospital
overnight at our Same Day Emergency Care (SDEC). This will be a core part of our frailty
pathway and result in better experiences for patients as well as reduce pressure on inpatient
beds.
At BHT Level:
Strengthen Emergency Services
Whilst, in the short term we can make adaptations to our estate to meet the growing needs
of our population. In the longer-term we need to reconfigure services and estate to deliver all
our acute emergency services from a single hospital site (including theatres, ICU, A&E,
stroke, cardiac and maternity services).

Theme 2: Planned Care
Planned care is the name we give routine services with planned appointments or
interventions in hospitals and community settings and generally follow a referral from a GP.
This includes specialities such as ophthalmology, orthopaedics, endoscopy and dermatology
and includes our cancer services.
Our vision for planned care services is to use technology to deliver outpatient care that is
convenient and only ask people to come to hospital when they need to see an expert. We
will work with other planned care providers to perform procedures that deliver the best
outcomes in a timely way. Translating this vision into reality will mean:
Almost 4.5 million people in England are waiting for hospital care – the highest number on
record – and in theory should be treated within 18 weeks. But widespread disruption to nonCOVID care means waiting times have increased and the number of people forced to wait
more than a year for treatment has soared from 1,398 to 192,169 in a year.
In Buckinghamshire, there are over 30,000 people (February 2021) on our waiting for care.
By the summer of 2021 we anticipate people waiting over 52 weeks to reach over 10,000
before gradually reducing. It will take time to return to normal service. It is important we give
people time to recover physically and emotionally – the welfare of our people is critical to
ongoing patient care.
At BOB ICS Level:
27
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 49

27/48

61/397

Delivering Planned Care
Many services especially in the area of cancer require close collaboration with other
hospitals such as Oxford University Hospitals NHS FT (OUHFT) and primary care. We are
committed to working with other hospitals to deliver planned care services that are robust
and responsive, improving outcomes and efficiency for the populations we serve. We will
work with others in the Thames Valley Cancer Alliance to link early diagnosis with timely
planned care that improves the outcomes and experiences for people affected by cancer.
Greater co-ordination between us across the larger geography will:
•
•
•
•
•

Develop better quality and more sustainable services.
Reduce unwarranted variation in clinical practices and outcomes.
Reduce health inequalities, with fair and equal access across sites.
Improve workforce planning.
Improve the use of resources, including clinical support, facilities and equipment and
corporate services.

Across the region we will continue to transform maternity care as part of our Local Maternity
System transformation, embedding things like continuity of carer in maternity services and
contributing to giving children the best start in life.
We will work together to deliver planned surgery in specialties such as orthopaedics and
ophthalmology that complement existing local services and deliver the best value care. We
will be able to manage demand and capacity across BOB ICS and reduce inequalities for
example in some areas waiting times for certain surgery is higher than in others. Working
with regional partners and the GIRFT teams to prioritise elective recovery in high volume,
low complexity areas. We will focus on driving equity of access and excellent clinical
outcomes for the population through greater standardisation of pathways, adoption of best
practice, fast track surgical hubs and agree principles for working across clinical and
operation groups. We will invest in the most up-to-date technologies such as surgical robots
and diagnostics to improve outcomes, especially for people living with major illnesses such
as cancer.
At Buckinghamshire ICP Level:
Improving Outpatients
After general practice, outpatient clinics account for the largest number of patient contacts
with the NHS each year. Nationally, around two-thirds of all appointments are follow-ups
booked in outpatient departments. In 2017/18 only around 3% of outpatient appointments
were carried out by telephone. Such consultations not only have a much lower rate of nonattendance, 8% compared to over 22%, but reduce travel time and levels of pollution16.
The NHS Long Term Plan clearly sets a vision to ‘redesign services so that over the next five
years patients will be able to avoid up to a third of face-to-face outpatient visits, removing the
need for up to 30 million outpatient visits’. In BHT alone during 2019/20 there were over
510,000 outpatient contacts. Our Improving Outpatients Programme has three goals:
• Increase ‘Virtual’ Outpatient Consultations by 30% by 2023. The COVID-19 crisis
rapidly accelerated our plans to implement telephone and video consultations to the point
16

Outpatients: Snapshot of a year, Nuffield Trust, https://www.nuffieldtrust.org.uk/files/201907/outpatients/v2/#1

28
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 50

28/48

62/397

where they are now our default option. The main benefits of this are to the people using
outpatient services – avoiding the inconvenience and stress caused by taking extra time
out, travelling to often crowded hospitals either by public transport or car can cause.
It is important to note that for some conditions and some specialties where physical
examinations and diagnostic tests are required an ‘in-person’ service will be available.
Over the course of the coming 12 months we will evaluate our current outpatient
programme, listen to what people tell us and develop pathways that meet the needs of
people using our services and the clinical teams delivering them.
• Managing the Demand for Outpatient Services by offering advice and guidance and
Referral Assessment Services (RAS) to make sure more people get to the right place first
time for specialist care. We will introduce patient initiated follow-ups so people will only be
followed-up by exception when clinical guidelines allow patients to initiate a follow-up if
there is a flare-up of their condition. Technology offers opportunities to provide
information and education for patients as well as remote monitoring and alerts that
anticipate the need for more specialist input.
• Increase Outpatient Efficiency by improving our internal processes. Incremental
changes will ensure we are making the best use of technology (e.g. artificial intelligence,
automation, and machine-learning decision-support), our estate and valuing people’s time
so that none is wasted.
At BHT Level:
Separate Emergency and Planned Care
In the long run, aligned with the NHS Long Term Plan and our estates strategy we want to
establish a world class planned care centre with clear separation from emergency care
services. This will require some service reconfiguration and significant changes to our
estate. It will enable us to run efficient surgical services and protect capacity to reduce the
risk of operations being postponed if more urgent cases come in or in future pandemics.

Theme 3: Integrated Communities
Community services are provided by NHS, social services or the voluntary sector. They are
designed to help local people and improve health and wellbeing in the community. People
working in community services include nurses such as district nurses taking care of the
elderly, therapists such as physiotherapy, charity groups, social workers and care providers.
In recent years we have seen:
• Costs increase to care for more older people and people living with disability and longterm conditions at home.
• Demand increase for GP and community services with emergency admissions to
hospitals growing.
• Delays returning home after a hospital stay often leading to poor patient experiences.
There are lots of people and different organisations involved in providing care for people
living with long term conditions or disability. It is often complicated for people and their
families. We will make it easier by joining services up and find better ways of delivering care.

29
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 51

29/48

63/397

We will integrate our community teams with those provided by Buckinghamshire Council to
support people to live long, healthy lives at home. We will access joined up information to
understand communities, to address the wider determinants of health e.g. housing,
education, and employment and reduce health inequalities.
Our vision is to simplify the health and social care system and support people to live long,
independent and healthy lives at home. When people need support, you will get it from the
right person, at the right place and at the right time. Translating this vision into reality will
mean:
At Buckinghamshire ICP Level:
Getting the Best Start in Life
Our aim for children in Buckinghamshire is to build a better future for all children and young
people so they realise their potential, whatever their starting point. Our strength is the way
we work together whether in education, mental health, physical health like health visiting and
school nurses we are all committed to providing high quality services that give children and
young people the best possible chances in life. Working in partnership with schools,
community and voluntary sector organisations we will increase the number of children and
young people accessing mental health services and support the development of Mental
Health Support Teams in schools.
Our work focusses on:
1.
2.
3.
4.

Keeping children and young people safe.
Supporting children, young people, parents and carers to overcome their challenges.
Improving children and young people’s health and wellbeing.
Reducing health inequalities and providing opportunities for children and young people to
meet their full potential.

Ageing Well
Frailty is a clinically recognisable state of increased vulnerability resulting from ageassociated decline in function across multiple physiological systems such that the ability to
cope with every day or acute stressors is compromised. It is often, but not always,
associated with the presence of multi-morbidity17.
Nationally there has been a steady increase in the volume of patients aged over 75 years
who are admitted with one or more of frailty groups. We have seen a similar increasing trend
and observe a peak in frailty patients at around 84. In-line with the national average more
female spells of frailty are reported.
We think more joined up services close to people’s homes is the best kind of community
care. We will work with colleagues in Buckinghamshire Council as well as Primary Care
Networks and other providers (e.g. for mental health) to deliver integrated service including:
•
•
•
•
•
17

Integrated Reablement and Rapid Response and Intermediate Care (RRIC).
Social Prescribing.
Rapid Response Teams.
Community Nursing.
Social Work Teams.
Frailty in Older People. Lancet. 2013 March 2; 381 (9868): 752-762

30
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 52

30/48

64/397

There are three main priorities for our new service model to support frail people in the
community:
1. Improve NHS care in Care Homes.
2. Identify and provide proactive support to old people living with frailty in the community.
3. Enhance rapid community response at times of crisis.
Primary Care Networks (PCNs) are a key part of the NHS Long Term Plan. GP practices are
working together with local services to serve larger populations (approximately 50,000). This
will mean bigger teams, longer opening hours and better access to well-organised care from
the NHS, Council or voluntary sector. We will support care that improves access to social
prescribers and integrated community services. Community teams will do everything they
can to help people be independent at home. They will help people return home quickly and
safely after a hospital stay. They will have a relationship with people with complex care
needs at home or in care homes and spot the first signs of people becoming unwell helping
people live independently. These teams will respond quickly in a crisis and improve care for
people with multiple illnesses and complex needs.
We will work with PCNs to provide viable alternative services that can be delivered either by
primary care, pharmacists, therapists or other community-based services directed by
NHS111. This will reduce the need for people to make unnecessary visits to hospital
Emergency Departments at Stoke Mandeville as well as surrounding areas.
Working with our partners we will embed an anticipatory model of care that is personal and
planned and uses the Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment tool as its foundation. We will
provide support in or close to people’s homes and respond when people are acutely unwell.
Our aim is to help people spend more time living healthy independent lives at home.
Prevention, Population Health Management and Reducing Health Inequalities
During recent public engagement most respondents said they would like to be healthier. As
health and care providers we will strengthen our relationships with communities, do things
that help people live healthier lives and remove the barriers to good health. However, as
members of our community we want all of us to take as much responsibility as we can for
our own health and the wellbeing of our families and friends.
We will work to understand the different patient groups, their needs and causes of ill health.
We will identify people and populations that are most vulnerable and work as a system to
reduce the risks of poor health. We will develop new interventions together to increasingly
focus on reducing the burden of disease e.g. cardiovascular disease or cancer and
prevention by making improvements in lifestyle, housing or the environment.
We are piloting ways of identifying particularly vulnerable populations living in deprived areas
and working with voluntary sector18 to improve outcomes in cancer and will expand this to
other diseases such as respiratory. We will work with grassroots organisations in a culturally
competent way to improve people’s understanding, self-care and prevention, screening
uptake, access to referrals (including 2 week waits) and reduce late presentation of diseases
at emergency departments.
An Organisation Rooted in our Communities

18

Help Us Help You – Improving Cancer Outcomes – Heart of Bucks: The community foundation for
Buckinghamshire.
31
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 53

31/48

65/397

We are an Anchor Institute with deep roots and strong links in our communities. Through our
size and scale, we can make a positive contribution to local areas in many ways beyond just
providing health care. In the following ways we will take a leading role in making a difference
to local people:
• Purchasing more locally and for social benefit. In England alone, the NHS spends £27bn
every year on goods and services.
• Using buildings and spaces to support communities. We occupy many sites across
Buckinghamshire on hundreds of hectares of land that can contribute in many ways to
community wellbeing.
• Working more closely with local partners. We can learn from others, spread good ideas
and model civic responsibility. We can also reach more people and understand what
works for different communities to reduce inequality and improve health outcomes.
• Reducing our environmental impact. The NHS is responsible for 40% of the public
sector’s carbon footprint. We can purchase goods and services more sustainably, modify
and upgrade our estate and change care pathways.
• Widening access to quality work. The NHS is the UK’s biggest employer with 1.6 million
people. In Buckinghamshire, along with our partners we can offer long fulfilling careers to
people that benefit them and their families.
As an anchor institution we influence the health and wellbeing of communities simply by
being here. By choosing to invest in and work with others locally and responsibly we can
have an even greater impact on the wider factors that make us healthy.
At BHT Level:
Community Hubs

Figure 14: Map illustrating a blueprint for key NHS infrastructure for frailty strategy

32
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 54

32/48

66/397

In 2016, we temporarily reduced the number of beds in community hospitals in Marlow and
Thame and more recently in Amersham. We established community hubs that offer new
community services and community links. We tested new ways to meet local needs and
make best use of the teams and funding available. Hospital doctors, nurses, therapists and
GPs work together. They have access to tests (like blood tests and X-Ray) to treat people in
the community. They established new teams of social workers, therapists, nurses and
healthcare assistants to provide support for people in their homes and communities. Doing
this they have avoided unneeded visits to hospital.
We will learn from the community hubs in Thame and Marlow and begin similar services in
other areas. Frail, older people can be stuck in hospital beds where their muscles weaken,
and they are at risk of infection. Reports from community hubs show more people were
treated and returned home on the same day. Fewer than 1% of people seen in community
hubs were sent to A&E. We have held meetings with people in Thame, Marlow and
Amersham and community hubs are popular with people that use them. Supported by same
day emergency care services they provide safe, effective and compassionate care without
needing a hospital bed.

Theme 4: Diagnostics and Medicine Optimisation
Diagnostic and scientific services underpin all models of care and most clinical pathways
(including critically cancer pathways). Diagnostic services include radiology (e.g. X-ray,
ultrasound, CT scan and MRI), endoscopy (e.g. gastroscopy, colonoscopy), pathology and
physiology services for specialties such as cardiac, respiratory and urodynamics.
Demand for all aspects of diagnostics was outstripping capacity even before the COVID-19
pandemic and is predicted to continue to rise year on year. This impacts on our ability to
meet waiting time standards with a knock-on effect on elective care and cancer outcomes.
Without reform and expansion of our capacity we will find it increasingly challenging to meet
our commitment to improving major health conditions especially in cancer as well as
commitments to emergency and planned care. Collectively the changes described in this
strategy will provide safe environments and convenience for patients and help save more
lives from major illnesses including cancer, stroke, heart disease and respiratory disease.
Our vision for diagnostics is to have access to tests that can be performed close to home as
well as central capacity for more complex testing. By working in networks and investing in
digital technology we will be able to provide rapid test results that improve outcomes by
contributing to early diagnosis and treatment. Translating this vision into reality will mean:
At BOB ICS level:
Diagnostic Centres and Hubs
Aligned with the emerging planned care strategy we will develop diagnostic centres at acute
sites as well as diagnostic hubs in the community. The community diagnostic hubs will be
able to offer essential diagnostics such as phlebotomy, point of care testing and simple
scanning (e.g. ultrasound or X-ray) commonly used in primary care.
The diagnostic centres will provide more complex diagnostics essential for emergency care
adjacent to emergency department as well as for planned care and fundamental to cancer
pathways. We want to explore high volume diagnostic centres that can serve wider
populations than Buckinghamshire, maximising our physical assets and technology and
contributing to improving outcomes in major conditions such as cancer and stroke.
33
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 55

33/48

67/397

Diagnostic Imaging Networks and South 4 Pathology Partnership
Building on our experience working in other clinical networks such as Thames Valley Cancer
Alliance we will establish collaborative pathology and imaging networks. These will deliver
quality care and better value services for patients as well as opportunities for our people to
develop their careers and increase their productivity. The footprint for our imaging network is
based on patient flows for a range of conditions including cancer, stroke, major trauma,
acute cardiology and maternity services.
Being part of an imaging network will support us to decouple image reporting from image
acquisition and enable us to pool our available people and serve a larger population. High
quality image acquisition will remain available locally for patients whilst digital technology will
enable equity of access, faster turnaround and improved access to sub-specialty expertise.
The modern digital infrastructure required to enable image sharing for reporting will also
facilitate the rapid introduction of Artificial Intelligence (AI) and machine learning applications
to improve clinical practice.
The South 4 Pathology Partnership (S4PP) consists of Oxford University Hospitals NHF
Foundation Trust (OUHFT), Great Western Hospital NHS FT (GWH), Milton Keynes NHS
Foundation Trust (MKFT) and BHT. We are committed to delivering cost effective, state of
the art, standardised pathology services across our catchment area. We will focus on
developing workforce models to improve resilience, introduce new technologies to enable
greater interoperability between laboratories and processing efficiency.
The main benefits of working in these networks include:
• Improved sustainability and service resilience.
• Staffing consistency and flexibility the provide more opportunities for personal and
professional development.
• Staff retention through flexible working and flexible retirement.
• Sharing and levelling of resources for staff and equipment.
• Economies of scale in procurement for both capital and outsourcing.
• Reducing unwarranted variation of pay and non-pay costs.
• Ensuring equal access for all patients, irrespective of geography.
• Locally acquired images and tests, with distributed reporting networks, which allows
access to sub-specialty opinion irrespective of location.
• Shared capacity and management of imaging reporting backlogs to optimise reporting
turnaround times.
• Management of outsourcing and insourcing in a planned and financially sustainable way.
• Maintaining high quality learning and training environments.
• A cohesive approach to quality improvement across the networks.
Delivering Our Endoscopy Strategy
We must increase our endoscopy capacity if we are going to consistently meet 18-week
referral to treatment times, two-week wait cancer waiting times and six-week diagnostic
waiting times, retain JAG19 accreditation and achieve the best patient outcomes and
experiences.
Demand consistently exceeds capacity and waiting lists were growing even before COVID19 resulting in unacceptable numbers of patients waiting beyond 6 weeks for their
procedure. During the last five years we have implemented many initiatives, such as 6 day
19

Joint Advisory Group on GI Endoscopy JAG (thejag.org.uk)

34
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 56

34/48

68/397

working, new models of care and optimised room utilisation, enabling us to deliver a 40%
increase in the number of patients seen.
As all NHS providers in the region are facing similar problems, we will work with our partners
to explore the possibility of developing additional regional capacity either as a surveillance
centre for low risk patients or mobile facilities.
Pharmacy and Medicines Optimisation
Our pharmacy department provides comprehensive medicine clinical support and supply
services to Buckinghamshire patients. It is a 24/7 service with specialist and generalist
services throughout the Trust. The department provides a range of services and support
including for all patients in Buckinghamshire requiring a NOAC (new oral anti-coagulants),
specialist cancer services including support in haematology, specialist spinal, rheumatology
and antimicrobial pharmacists.
Pharmacy activity and costs are expected to continue to rise in-line with planned and
unplanned growth as well as advances in drugs and technology. Outpatient increases of
approximately 12%, growth in chemotherapy and aseptic items of approximately 17% and an
anticipated increase in spending of 9% each year. Since 2018 we have introduced eprescribing, developed a workforce model for community pharmacy and made savings using
the Model Hospital benchmarking and switching to biosimilars.
We are taking a leading role in BOB ICS working with Chief Pharmacists from across the
region to ensure everyone has the right medicine at the right time in the right place. The
focus for pharmacy transformation will establish join leadership and governance, improve
medicines safety and value, adopt digital technologies to optimise medicines and establish a
sustainable and effective workforce.

Theme 5: National Spinal Injuries Centre and
Rehabilitation
Stoke Mandeville National Spinal Injuries Centre (NSIC) is the birthplace of the Paralympic
movement and the largest and most recognised spinal cord injury centre in the UK and
beyond. At the heart of Buckinghamshire’s Local Industrial Strategy is the contribution we
can make to our region’s economic growth and development. We will build on our heritage
and develop a centre of excellence for rehabilitation with an international reputation for care,
research and innovation. Translating this vision into reality will mean:
At national level:
Stoke Mandeville National Spinal Injuries Centre (NSIC)
Our strategic vision for NSIC vision is to enable people with spinal cord injury to reach their
maximum potential. We have begun a transformation programme in the NSIC focussed on
improvements in areas like patient flow, discharge pathways, early access, outpatients and
outreach. We aim:
1. To provide outstanding rehabilitation at Stoke Mandeville Hospital for people with new
spinal cord injuries. Developing strong links with major trauma centres such as OUHFT to
ensure early intervention which is fundamental to achieving the best outcomes for people
with spinal cord injuries.
35
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 57

35/48

69/397

2. To provide outstanding ongoing care for people who are living with spinal cord injury or
readmitted to the NSIC. Links with community organisations and primary care as well as
ongoing support for families and carers.
3. To be leaders in clinical practice, education, research and innovation. Strong partnerships
with research organisations, charities and academic institutions.
The NSIC forms the foundation from which the rest of this strategic theme will be built.
Working with Wheelpower
Founded by Professor Sir Ludwig Guttmann, Stoke Mandeville Stadium was opened in
1969. Originally opened for use by disabled people, the centre is now the base for
Wheelpower20 – the national charity for wheelchair sport and a thriving community sports
facility which has around 500,000 user visits annually. Approximately 50,000 of these are
visits made by disabled people. It was redeveloped in 2003 following a major capital
investment of £10.2 million.
WheelPower wants to significantly increase the number of disabled people leading active
lives and are a key partner to deliver our vision for Stoke Mandeville as a centre of
excellence for rehabilitation incorporating sport and physical activity.
Becoming a Centre of Excellence for Rehabilitation

Rehabilitation is the development, to the maximum degree possible, of an individual’s
function and/or role, mentally and physically, within their family and social networks and
within education/training and the workplace where appropriate’. (NHS England: Improving
Rehabilitation Services Programme (2016).
The long-term impact of COVID-19 remains largely unknown. It is estimated around 1 in 7
people testing positive for the virus have ongoing symptoms at 12 weeks. There is evidence
that long-term adverse effects from COVID-19 can go on for much longer than 12 weeks and
may disproportionately impact people from ethnic minority groups. Given the complex nature
of people’s needs we will work together with partners to provide ongoing rehabilitation to
support people to make a full recovery.
Along with our long history of rehabilitation through the NSIC we also provide a number of
rehabilitation services for people with conditions resulting from a disease of, or injury to the
body’s nervous system (i.e. the brain, spinal cord, and/or peripheral nerve connections. The
primary services include our Community Head Injuries Service (CHIS), Community Neurorehabilitation Service (CNRU) and Buckinghamshire Neuro-rehabilitation Unit (BNRU). It
also includes psychological services as an important part of a person’s rehabilitation and
links with our intermediate care teams (e.g. therapies).

20

WheelPower | Transforming Disabled Lives Through Sport
36
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 58

36/48

70/397

These services are currently fragmented and managed across different divisions and from
different locations. This inevitably leads to duplication or missed opportunities for teams to
work together and deliver seamless care and experiences. We will bring these services
together into a centre of excellence for rehabilitation at Stoke Mandeville with a single
management, governance and accreditation structure.

Summary Critical Path for Clinical Strategy

Figure 15: Summary critical path for clinical strategy

37
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 59

37/48

71/397

Section 4: Our Key Enabling Strategies
This section will:
•

Describe our enabling strategies which are crucial in supporting the delivery of our
clinical strategy and overall Trust plans.

To deliver our vision we need to change the way we work and use our resources in a
different way. We are focussed on creating a compassionate culture, embedding behaviours
linked to our values and improving how we listen to and work alongside communities.
We have a series of enabling strategies for people, estate, Information Technology (IT) and
digital, finance and research and innovation. These strategies sit alongside our quality
strategy that is being developed to describe our approach to improving quality, patient
experience and safety, and incorporates key elements of our nursing, midwifery and Allied
Health Professionals strategy.

People
Our people strategy sets out how we are building a great place to work and how we will
ensure our people are listened to, safe and supported. The 2020 strategy considers our
context and several factors that have impacted on us since March 2020 most notably, the
COVID-19 pandemic and the NHS People Plan (July 2020).

Figure 15: Our 5 People Priorities aligned with BOB ICS programme
COVID-19 has had a profound impact on our people – whether they are patient facing in the
hospitals, working in the community or in people’s homes or working non-patient facing
roles. Sometimes when our focus is on caring for others, we forget to look after ourselves.
All of us face challenges in our daily lives and we are committed to supporting everyone with
psychological and physical wellbeing now and in the future. It has brought into sharp focus
the inequalities in experience of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) colleagues at work
and in society.
38
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 60

38/48

72/397

The NHS People plan sets out actions to support transformation across the whole NHS. It
focusses on how we must all continue to look after each other and foster a culture of
inclusion and belonging, as well as action to grow our people, train people and work together
differently to deliver patient care.
Our own People Plan has been developed alongside the system plan so that work is
delivered at scale that provides the most benefits.
Through the delivery of our people strategy we will build a sustainable workforce for the
future that reflects the diversity of the population we serve and is safe and healthy. One that
is skilled and works collaboratively across boundaries (professional and geographic) and
develops and learns together in an environment where everyone feels they belong. We will
tackle the risks of harm at work by having a compassionate culture and implementing
policies, working practices and environments that promote harm-free work. Safe, healthy
and happy people deliver outstanding care.

IT and Digital Transformation

There is remarkable potential for digital healthcare technologies to improve accuracy of
diagnoses and treatments, the efficiency of care, and workflow for healthcare professionals.
Patients who are willing and able to take greater charge of their care using digital tools and
algorithms will be empowered. There is the potential for a marked improvement in the
patient-clinician relationship. The new medicine we envisage will require education and
training of our people and the public. A cultivation of a cross-disciplinary approach that
includes data scientists, computer scientists, engineers, bioinformaticians in addition to the
traditional mix of pharmacists, nurses and doctors.
Many aspects of care are shifting closer to people’s homes while more specialised care is
centralised into national or regional centres. We are moving towards a less paternalistic
relationship between patients and clinicians. Digital healthcare is speeding this process up –
empowering people to be more informed about their care and allowing us to work together to
make treatment decisions. With supported self-help we hope more people will be able to
take control of their health and wellbeing and manage their own conditions with minimal
disruption to their lives.
Genomics is enabling more accurate diagnoses of a broad range of diseases and allowing
people to know the likelihood of developing them. Digital medicine such as telemedicine
like telephone triage via NHS 111, phone and video consultations and smartphone apps are
helping people to self-manage, liaise with clinical teams and order repeat prescriptions.
Remote monitoring is changing the way care is delivered. Almost 90% of the population
39
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 61

39/48

73/397

regularly use the internet although, until recently, only small numbers had registered for
online services with their GP.
Using AI-based technologies (artificial intelligence), automated image interpretation and
machine learning will lead to faster diagnosis. While technologies like speech recognition are
freeing up people’s time to deliver care. These advances in healthcare technologies along
with a greater focus on prevention, health and wellbeing will bring major improvements in
health outcomes. However, it is critical we are prepared to adopt these technologies in a
spirit of equality and fairness and a focus must be given to vulnerable and marginalised
groups.
The recent capital investment in excess of £17m has provided us with the opportunity to
begin to deliver some of the benefits linked with our improved capability.
Our strategy to promote digital ways of working is not simply digitising traditional ways of
working on paper. It is about enhancing our working practices with new workflows,
connecting and presenting information once and adding value wherever possible. This will
apply across the ICP and the ICS as we connect with partners and peers working in acute
and tertiary hospitals such as in imaging, diagnostic data or other elements of the record of
care that may have been delivered elsewhere can be seamlessly integrated and presented
to clinical teams.
IT and digital advances are having a dramatic impact on the way we deliver care and will
contribute to improvements in the quality of services we provide. Already clinical teams have
been enabled to deliver significantly more care by phone, video or app as well as remotely in
the community. We have enabled our corporate support services to work anywhere reducing
the reliance of valuable office space, car parking and travel. The digital revolution has the
potential to make a huge contribution to the NHS being carbon neutral and reverse some of
the negative health and social care costs of climate change.
Our technology aim is to provide secure, shared access to a single source of electronic
patient record across all systems supporting health and care. This will create a safe, more
efficient system, improve patient outcomes and support integrated care. This will enable
clinicians to have access to a patient’s care record at any point on the care pathway, from
GP appointment to urgent and emergency situations in hospital.
We will use automation technologies to simplify repetitive processes and adopt AI and
analytics to support our clinical decisions and processes. We aim to work as a system to
triage and direct people to the right point of care in a timely, efficient and effective way.
Technology has the potential to not only improve access to healthcare but redefine and
reform how patient flow is managed. We will simplify access for patients and enable health
and social care professionals to allocate resources more efficiently, making it possible to
provide a better service with less resources.

Estates
Our current acute hospital services are split between Stoke Mandeville and Wycombe with
the emergency department at Stoke Mandeville and cardiac and stroke services at
Wycombe. Much of the estate is old and in poor condition with circa £200m backlog
maintenance requirements. The future of our estate and its configuration is driven by our
clinical strategy. Investment in changing the estate to meet the needs of the future, to enable
us to respond safely to future pandemics and become sustainable is fundamental to our
success.
40
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 62

40/48

74/397

We deliver our services from a range of facilities including:
• Different community settings – Brookside, health centres, GP surgeries, schools and
patients’ own homes.
• Three community hospitals in Amersham, Buckingham and Chalfont & Gerrard’s Cross.
• Two community hubs being piloted at Thame and Marlow.
• Two acute hospitals located in the two most densely populated areas of the county –
Stoke Mandeville in Aylesbury and High Wycombe.
Our estate consists of buildings spanning old Victorian buildings (in the community) to more
modern Private Finance Initiative (PFI) buildings at Amersham, Wycombe and Stoke
Mandeville.
There are limited opportunities for new
development, without demolition of existing
buildings or removal of car parking. While the
more recent buildings are designed to modern
standards and provide efficient clinical
accommodation the older buildings are not
and there is in excess of £100m in backlog
maintenance.
Our estates strategy was approved at the
beginning of 2020 and sets out the following
priorities:

41
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 63

41/48

75/397

• To enable the delivery of new models of care and meeting the changing and growing
needs of the population.
• To develop modern, flagship buildings and centres of excellence such as the Centre of
Excellence for Rehabilitation at Stoke Mandeville and diagnostic centres and hubs.
• To have estates and facilities that are in-line with a CQC outstanding organisation, a
great place to work and for patients to receive care.
• To have overhead costs below the national average.
• To have buildings that are energy efficient and environmental (carbon neutral) sites.
• To bring backlog maintenance costs under control.
We have begun developing a strategic outline case for Stoke Mandeville and Wycombe
Hospitals that will have knock-on effects for all our other estates including our community
facilities. We have three main options to consider and raise capital funding:
1. Adapt existing acute hospital sites (at Wycombe and Stoke Mandeville) to strengthen
emergency services and separate planned care.
2. Identify a new site and build a new hospital for only emergency acute care.
3. Identify a new site and build a new hospital for both emergency and planned care (this
would need to provide separation of ‘hot’ and ‘cold’ services).
This is a major undertaking and we are putting in-place governance and programme
structures (see section 5) to ensure we comply with our regulatory and legal responsibilities.

Finance
Improving financial management to deliver better value for money
Our financial sustainability depends on the delivery of our strategy. Delivering this strategy
will address the challenges we face trying to deliver care from old estate and meet access
and quality standards. It will prepare us for future pandemics, ensuring greater levels of
infection prevention and control and will rectify inefficiencies of operating critical care across
two sites and the excessive costs of backlog maintenance.
Over 90% of our income comes from NHS commissioners and Local Authorities. Every day
we spend more than £1m of taxpayers’ money delivering care. To be a well-led, sustainable
organisation we must deliver value for money by demonstrating economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of our resources. Despite growing demand and increasing financial
pressures we delivered the plan agreed by NHS Improvement at the end of March 2021.
This included £15.1m efficiency savings, exceeding our plans by £0.3m.
While we expect to see growth in funding in the coming years, it is likely to continue to be
outstripped by demand, demographic growth and rising costs. The financial pressures in
health and social care, particularly for those providing acute hospital services, are likely to
persist into the future. Only by investing in transformation and delivering our multi-year
strategy will we eliminate our deficit and achieve a breakeven financial position by the end of
2025.
We are building a new approach to transformation that focusses on the best opportunities for
service improvement and commercial opportunities. We will explore ways we can maximise
the commercial benefit from our wholly owned subsidiary and explore opportunities with our
PFI contracts. By delivering our Quality Improvement Strategy we will ensure everyone is
equipped with the skills to make improvements and reduce waste in the areas they work.
This means using benchmarking in Model Hospital to identify areas to improve our
42
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 64

42/48

76/397

productivity. Using GIRFT data to reduce unwarranted variations by changing clinical or nonclinical processes. We will need to consider carefully how we deliver care in the future,
adopting technology and exploring new ways of delivering care in more sustainable ways.
As a member of BOB ICS and Buckinghamshire ICP we will work with partners to deliver the
best value for every pound spent in health and social care. This will be driven by our joint
strategies and developing new care models and partnerships. It may also mean introducing
new approaches to payment and contracting with greater emphasis on how we work
together to deliver the best outcomes for people.

Summary Critical Path for Enabling Strategies

Figure 16: Summary critical path for enabling strategies

43
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 65

43/48

77/397

Section 5: Implementing our Strategy
This section will:
• Describe our approach to governance, assurance and communication of our Trust
strategy.
Our strategy sets our vision and direction between now and 2025. We have used national,
regional and local policies along with the feedback and insight we are gaining from
communities, clinical leaders and people that work in health and social care. This is an
opportunity to set a new course building on the foundations laid during the last five years.
Assuring Delivery
To ensure delivery we will produce an annual operating plan that sets out our plans for the
next year including key milestones and developments described within the strategy. The
annual plan will be approved by the Board of Directors before the beginning of each financial
year (April) and overseen through the existing sub-committees.
The Board will continue to apportion time within its Board meetings and seminars to consider
key strategic questions and debate approaches to challenges or risks. The Board will
consider strategic risks to the Trust and these are described in the Board Assurance
Framework and Corporate Risk Register. Some of the risks to delivery include:
• Our ability to raise capital funding to deliver changes in digital and estates.
• The challenge of new ways of working in partnership with Buckinghamshire Council and
Primary Care Networks.
• Our financial position.
• Our ability to recruit, retain and develop our people.
• Public engagement and support for some of the changes in health and social care.
Planning, Assuring and Delivering Change
As we develop our plans, we will ensure we comply with national guidance
and best practice for engagement. A key piece of national guidance we are
using to guide our approach and process of change is planning, assuring
and delivering service change for patients21. It sets out the detail and
process for all tests, checks and considerations that we must undertake in
developing our proposals for change.
We are committed to processes that meet the government’s four tests for
health service reconfiguration. This means any proposals for change we
have will:
•
•
•
•

Have undergone strong public and patient engagement.
Be consistent with current and prospective need for patient choice.
Have clear clinical evidence bases.
Be supported by clinical commissioners.

21

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/planning-assuring-delivering-service-change-v61.pdf

44
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 66

44/48

78/397

Where capital investment is required, we are following the processes laid
out in the capital regime, investment and property business case approval
guidance for NHS trusts and foundation trusts22. This guidance enables us
to manage our own capital investment up to agreed thresholds and
ensures enough governance and assurance given capital departmental
expenditure limits (CDEL) set by Her Majesty’s Treasury (HMT). It
establishes the necessary assurance and governance framework for
investment along with delegated limits and business case approval
processes.
Successfully delivering a strategy with changes of this scale will require investment to
ensure we have adequate resources, expertise and time to focus on all the activities
involved. We have established a Transformation Board, chaired by the Chief Executive and
managed by our Programme Management Office (PMO) to oversee the delivery of our
operating plan. We will establish a Strategic Delivery Programme resourced with external
and internal expertise to oversee the delivery of this strategy.

Figure 17: Programme structure for our 2025 strategic transformation
We will develop the right programme and project management structures based on best
practice from other organisations working on similar programmes. This will include complex
and detailed work to develop service level plans – including demand and capacity,
schedules of accommodation, clinical adjacencies and operating policies. It will include
ongoing and routine public and workforce engagement as well as stakeholder and
relationship management.

22

https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2020/08/NHSI_Capital_Regime_Investment_Property_Business_Case_Main_Comms_V9.0_fi
nal_v2.pdf

45
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 67

45/48

79/397

During the second quarter of 2021/22 (January – March) we will establish a dedicated and
skilled portfolio management team. We will work as a team supported by subject matter
experts in health planning, communications and engagement, estates project management
and capital business cases, financial analysis, procurement and planning. We will need to
resource the programme with a combination of external professional services and internal
resources. We will backfill clinical (and non-clinical colleagues) to confirm and challenge
proposals and provide sign-off for plans as an integral component of each project.
Communications and Engagement

Figure 18: Engagement and public consultation activities
The importance of communication and engagement with the public, our partners and people
that work in health and social care as well as key stakeholders such as local politicians,
Health and Adult Social Care Scrutiny Committees and regulators such as, NHS I/E, BOB
ICS and the regional clinical senate cannot be underestimated.
Good, early and ongoing two-way discussions to share ideas, options and rationale and
listen to people’s feedback will provide a good foundation for success. It is not a one-off
activity and is not something that can be done quickly.
Depending on the nature of the changes and whether they are considered substantial there
may be a need for formal consultation on options. If this is the case the following Gunning
Principles23 will guide our approach:
1. Proposals are still at a formative stage. A final decision has not yet been made, or
predetermined, by the decision makers.
2. There is enough information to give ‘intelligent consideration’. The information
provided must relate to the consultation and must be available, accessible and easily
interpretable for consultees to provide an informed response.

23

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/The%20Gunning%20Principles.pdf Stephen Sedley
QC defined that a consultation is only legitimate when these four principles are met.

46
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 68

46/48

80/397

3. There is adequate time for consideration and response. There must be enough
opportunity for consultees to participate in consultation. There is no set timeframe for
consultation despite the widely accepted twelve-week consultation period, as the length
of time given for consultee to respond can vary depending on the subject and extent of
impact of the consultation.
4. Conscientious consideration’ must be given to the consultation responses before a
decision is made. Decision-makers should be able to provide evidence that they took
consultation responses into account.
Equality Impact Assessments
An equality and diversity impact assessment (EIA) is a tool for ensuring equality, social
inclusion and community cohesion issues are considered when drawing up policies or
proposals which affect the delivery of services and the employment practices of the Trust. As
we develop the programme in 2021, we will prepare EIAs that consider the impact of specific
proposals for change. These will help us:
• Determine how new proposals will impact or affect different communities or groups,
especially those who experience inequality, discrimination, social exclusion or
disadvantage.
• Measure whether policies or proposals will have a negative, neutral or positive affect on
different communities.
• Make decisions about current and future services and practice in fuller knowledge and
understanding of the possible outcomes for different communities or groups.
• Develop new ways of monitoring and reviewing the effects of new proposals as and when
they are introduced.

Strategic Programme Summary Timeline

Figure 19: Summary critical path for strategic transformation

47
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 69

47/48

81/397

Closing Statement
As leaders in both Buckinghamshire Integrated Care Partnership and BOB Integrated Care
System we want to reduce unwarranted variation and reduce health inequalities. COVID-19
shone a light on the disparity in our system and the unacceptable differences in health
outcomes and life expectancy. Central to our success will be our partnerships not only with
acute care providers in the region, Buckinghamshire Council and Primary Care but with
residents and communities, with local community groups and businesses.
We are uniquely placed as an integrated acute and community health provider to contribute
to the health of people in our communities and growth in our region beyond the traditional
boundaries of healthcare organisations. As an anchor institution and as part of a whole
system we can begin to focus on the wider determinants of health to help people live long
and healthy lives.
We want to deliver outstanding integrated urgent care and strengthen our emergency
services by bringing them together on an acute site. We want to separate planned care so
they can run uninterrupted and we can safely respond to future pandemics. With our clinical
strategy driving changes in our estate we can reduce the excessive costs of maintenance
and become a sustainable system delivering the best outcomes at the lowest possible costs.
This is an exciting time for Buckinghamshire Healthcare Trust. We have laid a firm
foundation over the last five years to build on and this strategy represents the beginning of
our next chapter. There is no doubt the road ahead is long, and the journey is daunting, but
we believe with investment and the right resources we can deliver long-term sustainable
changes that meet the changing needs of the populations we serve and support economic
growth and development in our region.

48
Any proposed changes are subject to appropriate patient and resident engagement and
involvement

Page 70

48/48

82/397

Agenda Item 8

Report to Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee
Date:

25th November 2021

Title:

Director of Public Health Annual Report: Domestic Violence and Abuse

Author:

Jane O’Grady

Recommendations/Outcomes:
The Health & Adult Social Care Select Committee is requested to note the
Director of Public Health Annual Report and endorse the recommendations
within it.
Recommendations within the Director of Public Health Annual Report: Domestic Violence
and Abuse
The following recommendations should inform the Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board
strategy and delivery plan:
1. The Domestic Abuse Board should support awareness raising of domestic abuse
through coordinated, county-wide participation in a selected national campaign
2. The Domestic Abuse Board should consider how bystander training could be utilised
locally and promoted, as an evidence-based intervention to challenge harmful
attitudes, language and behaviour relating to domestic abuse for people of all ages
3. Buckinghamshire Council Community Safety team should consider how to increase
the diversity within the domestic violence and abuse champions scheme by actively
recruiting network members that reflect the diversity of people that may experience
domestic abuse
4. The Domestic Abuse Board should develop and roll-out high-quality, shared,
scenario-based training across Buckinghamshire for key stakeholders and front-line
staff. Primary care should also consider implementing the IRIS training package as an
effective evidence-based training programme across Buckinghamshire
5. The Domestic Abuse Board should oversee the development of a Buckinghamshire
domestic abuse referral pathway for all staff to follow, to ensure timely and
responsive delivery of services, fully understood by frontline staff and accessible to
victims seeking help

Page 71

6. All Board member agencies to support the development of an evidence base for
what works for perpetrators, to inform commissioning of promising interventions,
and evaluation of their effectiveness

1.

Background

1.1

Each year the Director of Public Health produces an annual report on the health of
the population. This year the report focuses on domestic violence and abuse.

1.2

One in 20 adults are estimated to experience domestic violence every year equating
to almost 21,000 people a year in Buckinghamshire or 57 people every day. Women
are more commonly victims of domestic abuse than men but it can happen to
anyone, at any age, across all gender identities, ethnic groups and walks of life.
Between 2011 and 2020, there were 39 domestic homicides in the Thames Valley
area, 15 of which were in Buckinghamshire.

1.3

This report covers key areas: how to recognise signs of domestic abuse and signposts
where to get help, who may be at greater risk of experiencing domestic abuse and
when, including research on warning signs leading up to domestic homicides. It also
covers what is known about interventions that contribute to reducing the risk and
harms of domestic abuse.

1.4

The report makes recommendations based on our local situation for the new
Buckinghamshire Domestic Abuse Board and a range of partners in Buckinghamshire
to implement. The Buckinghamshire Domestic Abuse Board will be responsible for
strategy development and development and oversight of an action plan which
should include the responses to these recommendations. This will fall under the
remit of the Communities portfolio.

1.5

The report was written taking into account the views of a range of partners from
Buckinghamshire Council, the NHS, Thames Valley Police, Women’s Aid and the
views of survivors of domestic abuse and service users who contributed to our needs
assessment.

2.

Main content of report

2.1

Ending domestic abuse is everyone’s business and requires a co-ordinated response
from national government, local partners and the public. Tackling domestic abuse,
and providing effective support services for victims as well as perpetrators is a
national priority; the Domestic Abuse Bill 2021 was passed by Parliament in April.
The Bill and its statutory requirements, such as the formation of a Domestic Abuse
Board, will inform local actions.

2.2

Domestic abuse may not be recognised by victims and those around them. It can
take place in different types of relationships such as between family members, ex-

Page 72

partners and people not living together. Children are particularly vulnerable given
the wide ranging and long lasting impacts of observing and suffering domestic abuse.
2.3

Latest figures for England and Wales from the Office for National Statistics estimate
that there were 1.28 million incidents and crimes relating to domestic abuse in
2019/2020. Twice as many women experienced some form of domestic abuse as
men. Being younger, disabled, unemployed, from a single-parent household, and/or
of mixed ethnicity increased the risk of experiencing domestic abuse.

2.4

Perpetrators are more likely to be men and are more often a partner or ex-partner.
Police data for Buckinghamshire show that 72% of perpetrators in Buckinghamshire
were male. 86% domestic homicides between 2017 and 2019 in England and Wales
were committed by men.

2.5

In England and Wales, domestic abuse rates had been gradually decreasing between
2005 and 2020. However, since the Covid-19 pandemic, this trend has reversed.

2.6

Data suggest that some people are more likely to be victims of domestic abuse, but
data are incomplete. Much of our data comes from surveys or services. A lack of data
may reflect reluctance to provide information, poor data collection, or barriers to
accessing services, either because they are not inclusive, or are perceived not to be.

2.7

The risk of abuse increases at specific times: when drugs or alcohol are used, when
separating or fleeing from abuse, during or after pregnancy, and around the time of
football matches.

2.8

Experiencing and witnessing domestic abuse can have devastating impacts on
victims, and their children, friends and wider family. The more severe the abuse, the
greater the impact. In the worst cases, domestic abuse can result in homicide,
including suicide as a result of domestic abuse. Domestic abuse also has a societal
impact. Based on national evidence , our report estimates that the potential annual
cost of the consequences of domestic abuse in Buckinghamshire is £687 million.

2.9

Domestic abuse is a complex societal issue and the response to domestic abuse must
be multifaceted and multi-agency, embedding prevention and early intervention.

2.10

Historically, interventions addressing domestic abuse have not been consistently
well evaluated, so new and existing programmes should be monitored and reviewed
to improve the robustness of the evidence. Likely effective domestic abuse
interventions include school-based awareness raising, bystander interventions,
improving public awareness and advocacy, training of frontline staff, and high risk
support such as independent domestic violence advisors and multiagency risk
assessment conferences. Interventions for perpetrators are less well understood but
are an important part of domestic violence and abuse services that should be
developed and thoroughly evaluated.

Page 73

2.11

Looking ahead, the new multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board will
be championing good practice and will also explore how we can share and learn
from past and current domestic homicide reviews to understand how such tragedies
can be prevented in the future.

3.

Next steps and review

3.1

The report and needs assessment will provide an evidence base for the work of the
new Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board. The Domestic Abuse Local Partnership
Board will report on progress of multiagency actions tackling domestic abuse which
will incorporate the recommendations from the DPH report.

3.2

The full Director of Public Health Annual Report is included as an appendix to this
report.

3.3

If you have any questions about the matters contained in this report please get in
touch with the author of this report.

3.4

Report author: Jane O’Grady (jane.ogrady@buckinghamshire.gov.uk) 01296 387623

Page 74

Appendix

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
Domestic Violence and Abuse

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
75 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

1

Acknowledgements

Contents

1

2
3
4
5
6

Introduction
Page 3
What is domestic abuse and how can we
recognise it?
Page 4
How common is domestic abuse?
Page 6
Who is at greater risk of suffering
domestic abuse?
Page 13

Thanks to all who participated in the
domestic violence and abuse needs
assessment and in compiling this
report, especially those who allowed
us to reflect their views and personal
stories. Also particular thanks to Lucy
Cunningham who led on pulling together
all the information for this report.

Contributing stakeholders:

What are the risk factors for becoming
a perpetrator?
Page 16
When is someone more at risk of
domestic abuse?
Page 17

7

What are the impacts of domestic abuse?
Page 19

8

What works to prevent domestic abuse?
Page 27

9

Summary and Recommendations
Page 30

10

Glossary
Page 31

11

Appendices
Page 32

Adam Johnson
Amanda Andrews
April Benson
Brian Daly
Carol Stottor
Caroline Thickens
Claire Hawkes
Elaina Quesada
Elaine Jewell
Elkie Dolling
Faye Blunstone
Francis Habgood
Jenny Chapman
Karen Ross
Lisa Latchford
Louise Hurst
Lucy Cunningham
Mollie Raine
Sanita Kalyan
Sue Hinks
Teresa Martin
Tiffany Burch

Thank you to the survivors and service
users who shared their experiences.

If you think you or someone you know may
be experiencing domestic abuse, go to
reducingtherisk.org.uk/Buckinghamshire
for support and advice.
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
76 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

2

1. INTRODUCTION
This year my Director of Public Health Annual Report focuses on domestic violence and abuse.
One in 20 adults are estimated to experience domestic abuse every year equating to almost 21,000
people a year in Buckinghamshire or 57 people every day. Women are more commonly victims of
domestic abuse than men but it can happen to anyone, at any age, across all gender identities,
ethnic groups and walks of life.
Domestic abuse is a crime often hidden from view, at home and out of sight. It often goes
unreported, as victims and witnesses such as children in the family may not report abuse for many
different reasons. Surveys suggest fewer than one in five women experiencing domestic abuse
report it to police. On average it takes three years for victims of domestic abuse to access support
services.
Domestic abuse has a profound impact on victims and survivors, their family and wider society.
Domestic abuse causes poor physical and mental health both in the short and long term, and in
some extreme cases death. There are also serious consequences for children in the household
witnessing domestic abuse with impacts on their mental and physical health, safety and
educational attainment. Domestic abuse also contributes significantly to homelessness and
increases the risk of poverty for victims and their children. The Home Office estimates that the
economic and social costs of domestic abuse are over £66 billion in England and Wales.
The prevalence of domestic abuse was vividly highlighted during the Covid-19 pandemic. During
and following the first lockdown, data up to January 2021 showed a 15% increase in domestic
abuse crimes reported to police for Buckinghamshire with a 13% increase in known victims and
perpetrators. Service data showed an increase in demand for domestic abuse support services.
Ending domestic abuse is everyone’s business and requires a co-ordinated response from
national government, local partners and the public.
This report is informed by a needs assessment undertaken by Buckinghamshire Council, views
from victims and service users, frontline professionals and organisations in Buckinghamshire.
It covers key areas including how to recognise signs of domestic abuse and where to get help,
who may be at greater risk of experiencing abuse and when, including research on the warning
signs leading up to domestic homicides. It also covers what is known about interventions that
contribute to reducing the risk and harms of domestic abuse and the need for more work to focus
on preventing perpetrators from committing domestic abuse. The Domestic Abuse Bill 2021 was
recently passed in April and will also inform local actions. My report makes recommendations
based on our local situation for a range of partners in Buckinghamshire to implement.
Finally I would like to thank all those who participated in the needs assessment and in compiling
this report, especially those who allowed us to reflect their views and personal stories. I hope
that the coming years will see us make very significant progress in reducing domestic abuse in
Buckinghamshire and offering effective support to all those affected.
Dr Jane O’Grady
June 2021

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
77 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

3

2. WHAT IS DOMESTIC ABUSE AND
HOW CAN WE RECOGNISE IT?
What is Domestic Abuse?
The Domestic Abuse Bill (2021) sets out a new statutory definition of domestic abuse that covers
both the nature of the relationship and the range of behaviours that are considered abusive.1
It says that behaviour is abusive if it consists of any of the following:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.

Physical or sexual abuse.
Violent or threatening behaviour.
Controlling or coercive behaviour.
Economic abuse.
Psychological, emotional or other abuse.

The behaviour can consist of a single incident or ongoing behaviour.
Domestic abuse can take place in different types of relationships, it can be between family
members, ex-partners and people not living together. The definition refers to people aged 16 or
over, but the Bill says that children can still be victims. If the abuser directs his/her behaviour
at a child in order to be abusive to another adult, this is domestic abuse (see appendix for full
definition).

For women, coercive control
has been shown to be the
most common, and the most
dangerous context of abuse.

There were 24,856 offences of coercive control recorded by the police in the year ending March
2020 in England and Wales.2 It is defined as “...assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other
abuse that is used to harm, punish, or frighten their victim”. This can also include stalking, which is a
pattern of persistent and unwanted attention. For women, coercive control has been shown to be
the most dangerous context of abuse.3

In middle class suburbia, there’s a culture of things being
hidden. It’s humiliating to admit you’re going through
something like this.
- Victim of domestic abuse, Buckinghamshire

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
78 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

4

How can we recognise signs of domestic abuse?

Recognising domestic
abuse is the first step to
taking action.

Recognising domestic abuse is the first step to taking action. Some victims as well as their friends,
family and colleagues may not recognise or acknowledge the abuse. There are resources available
to help us all recognise domestic abuse,4 and to respond effectively as a positive bystander so that
we can assist victims safely.5
Signs that someone may be a victim of domestic abuse include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Being withdrawn.
Becoming isolated from family and friends.
Having bruises, burns or bite marks.
Having finances controlled.
Not being allowed to leave the house, or stopped from going to college or work.
Having internet, social media or other communications monitored.
Being repeatedly belittled, put down or told they are worthless.
Being told that abuse is their fault, or that they are overreacting.

Children may respond to experiencing and/or witnessing abuse in different ways. Signs in
children include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Being anxious, depressed or withdrawn, easily startled.
Having difficulty sleeping, having nightmares or flashbacks.
Complaining of physical symptoms such as tummy aches.
Bed wetting.
Developing behavioural problems e.g. temper tantrums and problems in school, behaving as
though they are much younger than they are, becoming aggressive.
Having a lowered sense of self-worth.
Older children playing truant, using alcohol or drugs, or self-harming.
Developing an eating disorder.
Feeling angry, guilty, insecure, alone, frightened, powerless or confused.
Having ambivalent feelings towards both the abuser and the non-abusing parent.

It took me a long time to realise there was a problem and
therefore to seek help. I felt that it wasn’t bad enough to
be abuse because he wasn’t hitting me.
- Victim of domestic abuse, Buckinghamshire

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
79 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

5

3. HOW COMMON IS DOMESTIC ABUSE?
Victims
Data on domestic abuse comes from several sources. The Crime Survey for England and Wales
and national police data on recorded crime are analysed and published by the Office for National
Statistics. Local data from Thames Valley Police is available to inform what is happening in
Buckinghamshire.
We can also use national and local data on use of domestic abuse services to determine who is
using services.
The current data have limitations. Domestic abuse often goes unreported and, when it is reported,
there can be a lack of detail about the type of abuse suffered and the characteristics of people
involved e.g. ethnicity. For example, fewer than one in five women (17%) who had experienced
partner abuse in the year to March 2018 reported the abuse to the police.6

Fewer than one in five women
(17%) who had experienced
partner abuse in the year
to March 2018 reported the
abuse to the police.

For the year to March 2020 in England and Wales7 we know that:
•
•
•
•
•
•

One in 20 adults aged 16 to 74 years reported experiencing domestic abuse in the year to
March 2020 (ONS).
There were approximately 1.28 million recorded domestic abuse-related incidents and crimes.
Twice as many women experienced some form of domestic abuse as men.
Women aged 16 to 19 years were more likely to report being a victim of domestic abuse than
women in all other age groups. 14% of women in this age group said that they had experienced
any domestic abuse.
For men, the age group most likely to report being a victim of domestic abuse was also 16 to 19
years old. 5% of men of this age said that they had experienced any domestic abuse.
People with a disability were more likely to experience domestic abuse than people without a
disability.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
80 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

6

•
•
•
•
•

Unemployed people were more likely to have experienced domestic abuse than those who
were employed or economically inactive.
People living in a single-parent household were more likely to experience domestic abuse.
People in the Mixed ethnic group were more likely to experience domestic abuse compared to
other ethnicity categories (Asian/Asian British, Black/Black British, White and Other).
Women in the lowest household income bracket are four times more likely to report being
victims of domestic abuse.8
There were 357 domestic homicides between 2017 and 2019.9 Men committed 86% of all
domestic homicides. The victim was female in 77% of domestic homicides cases. The suspect
was male in 96% of female homicides and 53% of male homicides.

We also know from research in England and Wales that:
•
•
•

Women experience more of certain types of abuse: more repeated physical violence, more
severe violence, more sexual violence, more coercive control, more injuries and more fear of
their partner compared to men.10
91% of domestic violent crimes causing injuries are against women.11
83% of victims experiencing more than ten violent crimes are women.11

Domestic abuse affects an
estimated 21,000 adults in
Buckinghamshire each year,
or 57 people every day.

Domestic abuse data for Buckinghamshire tell us the following:
•
•

•

Domestic abuse affects an estimated 21,000 adults in Buckinghamshire each year, or 57 people
every day.
Police data for Buckinghamshire from 2020 to 2021 showed that:
 Only around 4,000 victims of abuse were recorded. This reflects a known pattern of underreporting of domestic abuse for all victims.
 More victims are female (71%) than male.
 Over half of victims (56%) are aged between 18 and 40 years of age.
Between 2011 and 2020, there were 15 domestic homicides in Buckinghamshire and 39 across
the Thames Valley area.

It’s more difficult to tell people that you’re a victim of
abuse if you’re male – it’s too shameful and embarrassing.
- Victim of domestic abuse, Buckinghamshire
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
81 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

7

Age of victim at time of abuse. Buckinghamshire data as recorded by Thames Valley Police,
April 2020 to Jan 2021

7%

4%
Age at time of offence:

13%

17 and under
29%

18 - 30
31 - 40
41 - 50

19%

51 - 60
61 and over

27%

A local needs assessment (2019) found that domestic abuse services in Buckinghamshire
compare well to gold standard guidance from the National Institute for Health and Social Care
Excellence (NICE).12 For example, the county has the recommended number of independent
domestic violence advisers (IDVAs) for its population size. Local domestic abuse service data add
to our knowledge of domestic abuse.a Understanding who is (and who isn’t) using services can
inform service planning, commissioning, and delivery.
Data collection in these services can be challenging and sensitive, and therefore service data
are often incomplete. However, comparing the data we have with national estimates suggests
that some groups may be under-represented in service users. These groups include, but may not
be limited to: men, older people, ethnic minorities, disabled people and people who are lesbian,
gay, bisexual, transgender, or have another definition of their gender and sexuality (LGBT+).
This under-representation may reflect the fact that not all victims want to seek help, and/or that
services are not meeting the needs of these groups.

Women’s Aid Bucks provides domestic abuse services in Buckinghamshire, including independent
domestic violence advice (IDVA), outreach services and refuge space.

a

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
82 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

8

Perpetrators

Less is known about the people
who carry out domestic abuse
than their victims.

Less is known about the people who carry out domestic abuse than their victims. It is vital that we
understand more about perpetrators if we are to understand how to prevent abuse and change
their behaviour.
Whilst data are limited,13 one report suggested that there are around 400,000 perpetrators in
England and Wales causing high and medium levels of harm.14 Perpetrators are more often
a partner or ex-partner rather than a family member.15 They are more likely to be male. Male
perpetrators are more likely to seriously injure or kill their victim; of the 357 domestic homicides
committed in England and Wales between 2017 and 2019, 86% were committed by men.16

3,212 perpetrators
committed 4,431
domestic abuse crimes.

From Thames Valley Police data for Buckinghamshire (10 months to January 2021), we know that:
•
•
•

There were 3,212 perpetrators who committed 4,431 domestic abuse crimes (Thames Valley
Police data for Buckinghamshire, April 2020 - January 2021).
72% of perpetrators of known gender were male.
64% of perpetrators of known age were 40 years old or under.

Perpetrators can be children as well as adults. Research and local professionals tell us that teento-parent and teen-to-teen domestic abuse occurs locally.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
83 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

9

Trends over time
Crime Survey for England and Wales data show fewer people experiencing domestic abuse over time, from 2005 to 2020.
Percentage of adults reporting domestic abuse in the annual Crime Survey, England and Wales, 2005 to 2020.17
14%

12%

10%

Page 84

8%

6%

4%

2%

0%

Mar-05

Mar 06

Mar 07

Mar 08

Mar 09

Men aged 16 to 59 years

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

Mar 10

Mar 11

Mar 12

Mar 13

Women aged 16 to 59 years

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

Mar 14

Mar 15

Mar 16

Men aged 16 to 74 years

Mar 17

Mar 18

Mar 19

Mar 20

Women aged 16 to 74 years

10

Despite the gradually decreasing rates of domestic abuse reported in surveys, there was a 9%
increase in domestic abuse-related incidents and crimes reported to police from 2019 to 2020 in
England and Wales. This may relate to changes in police recording or may reflect a true increase
in reporting to the police.

Domestic abuse-related
incidents and crimes
accounted for 15% of all
crime in Buckinghamshire
from 2019 to 2020.

In Buckinghamshire, these crimes accounted for 15% of all recorded crime from 2019 to 2020, 14%
of all crime from 2018 to 2019, and 11% of all crime from 2017 to 2018.
The Covid-19 pandemic saw a significant increase in reported domestic abuse. During the first
lockdown (March to June 2020), police data showed a 7% increaseb in domestic abuse related
offences.18 In the 10 months from April 2020, contacts to the National Domestic Abuse charity
Refuge19 rose by 61% and contacts to the charity Respect which supports male victims of
domestic abuse rose by 70%.20 Calls to the National Stalking Helpline in the year from March
2020 increased by almost 10%.21 The lockdown resulted in victims being confined at home with
perpetrators. School closures may have increased exposure of children to household violence.
In-person contact with health and social services reduced. And home visits which may have
identified and intervened in risky situations were reduced. Victims reported that the abuse
worsened during the pandemic, especially if they lived with their abuser.22

As the number of offences flagged as domestic abuse-related has been increasing in recent
years, it is not possible to determine what impact the coronavirus pandemic may have had on the
increases in 2020.
b

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
85 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

11

The Covid-19 pandemic saw a significant
increase in reported domestic abuse.
Victims reported that the abuse worsened
during the pandemic, especially if they lived
with their abuser.

In Buckinghamshire, reports of domestic abuse and use of domestic abuse services have
increased since the start of the pandemic. The table shows increases in police and service use
data.

POLICE DATA

Before Covid-19
April 2019 to Jan 2020

After Covid-19
April 2020 to Jan 2021

Percentage change

Reported domestic
abuse crimes

3849

4431

15% 

Numbers of victims

2924

3291

13% 

Numbers of
perpetrators

2839

3212

13% 

Domestic-related
stalking crimes*

54*

415*

669% *

*Large increase is due to changes in recording practises by the Home Office in April 2020.
SERVICE DATA

Before Covid-19
April to Sept 2019

After Covid-19
April to Sept 2020

Percentage change

Victims supported by
IDVAsc

601

1062

77% 

This includes victims supported within a police station and/or within Women’s Aid IDVA services in
Buckinghamshire.
c

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
86 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

12

I never expected domestic
abuse would happen to me
“I always thought that domestic violence and abuse was something that happened to other
people. But it happened to me. This is my story from ten years ago.
“He will be nameless. We met online, but we had mutual acquaintances in common, so I felt
okay about meeting him. We first met in a quiet local pub - he wasn’t really my type, and I
only agreed to a second date to not hurt his feelings. However after meeting more, I felt that
we had a connection. We ended up moving in together quite quickly and that’s when my life
began to change.
“From the start he was ‘love bombing’ me, a tactic that abusers sometimes use to get you on
side – sending texts saying that he really liked me, and thought I was amazing. He was also
controlling and overbearing – my phone would ring and he would be hovering, wanting to hear
what I was saying. He would question me – what did they want, why had or hadn’t I spoken
about him? Then there were questions about why people weren’t ringing or texting me. I felt
that I couldn’t do anything right.
“Things reached a head when I stayed away overnight for a work trip. He accused me of
making it up – I was going away because I was having an affair (I wasn’t). He cornered me
in our bedroom, pushing me against the wall, yelling and screaming at me. In his mind, he
was right – I couldn’t say anything to stop him. I’m not proud of it, but I slapped him. Silence.
Nothing happened. I got my bags and I left. For the next 36 hours I had text after text saying
things like the police would arrest me, he was sorry, please come back, I love you, I need you,
why aren’t you telling me the truth, don’t you dare come back, your stuff is in bin bags at the
front door.
“You might wonder, why I didn’t ring someone and tell them? What do you say? Who do you
tell? Abusers pull you away from your friends and family. Contact becomes limited, and often
you can’t see people without the abuser being present. Unless you’ve been in this position,
you can’t imagine how lost and alone you feel. Reaching out to talk to someone, becomes the
most impossible thing you can do.
“Christmas came. I was trapped in a flat, with a man I was petrified of. We rowed, and by 4am,
he had ripped out clumps of my hair, tried to strangle me, kicked me in the ribs, given me a
black eye, and ripped an earring out my ear. He proposed at some point that night. I said yes
because I didn’t know what else to say. It was terrifying. I couldn’t even cry. I just felt numb.
“It was another three weeks before I left, and I can’t tell you what happened. I don’t let myself
think about it. But I did leave. And I didn’t go back.”
- Anonymous resident, Buckinghamshire

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
87 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

13

4. WHO IS AT GREATER RISK OF SUFFERING
DOMESTIC ABUSE?
Some people are more likely to be victims of domestic abuse. Tools such as the DASH risk
checklist (Domestic Abuse, Stalking and Harassment and Honour Based Violence) help trained
health and social care professionals and the police to assess the risk level (standard, medium
or high) of domestic abuse victims.23 The checklist identifies vulnerabilities such as mental ill
health, financial dependency and disability. High and medium risk victims receive support from
independent domestic violence advisors (IDVA), and may be referred to a multi-agency risk
assessment conference (MARAC).
However, a lack of complete data on victims limits our understanding of the full picture of who
is at greater risk of domestic abuse. Much of our data come from surveys or services. A lack of
data may reflect reluctance to provide information, poor data collection, or barriers to accessing
services, either because services are not inclusive or are not perceived to be.

Disability

Around 14% of disabled adults experienced domestic
abuse, compared with 5% of adults without disabilities
from 2018 to 2019 (in England and Wales).

Around 14% of disabledd adults experienced domestic abuse, compared with 5%of adults without
disabilities from 2018 to 2019 (in England and Wales).24 Disabled men are twice as likely to
experience domestic abuse compared to non-disabled men (8% and 4% respectively);25 disabled
women are more than twice as likely compared to non-disabled women (17% and 7%). National
and local data suggest that either disability is not recorded by services, or that disabled victims
are not accessing them.

Having a physical disability meant that it was difficult
for me to get advice or support outside home.
- Victim of domestic abuse, Buckinghamshire
Learning disability
National data suggest that one in five (19%) people with a learning disability experienced any
domestic abuse in the last year (2019 to 2020).26
Being disabled refers to a person self-reporting a long-standing illness, condition or impairment,
which causes difficulty with day-to-day activities.
d

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
88 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

14

Mental ill health
Domestic abuse and mental ill-health are commonly associated. Recent research suggests that
women with mental health problems are three times more likely to experience domestic abuse, and
women experiencing domestic abuse are three times more likely to develop mental health problems.27

Older people
Older people are affected by domestic abuse. Police data for Buckinghamshire from 2019 to 2020
showed that 9% of victims of known age were 61 years or older. However this age group only
made up 4.5% of IDVA service users in the same year. Older people may be more vulnerable to
coercive control (including economic abuse) given their dependence on family and carers as they
age.28 They may be unwilling or unable to disclose, recognise or leave abusive relationships due to
age-related conditions such as dementia. Such situations are both a safeguarding and a domestic
abuse concern.

Ethnicity
Ethnicity is not well recorded in relation to domestic abuse. Recent police data show that in
Buckinghamshire, in 70% of cases the victim’s ethnicity was not recorded. Domestic abuse is also
commonly under-reported in ethnic minorities. Although domestic abuse is experienced by people
from all ethnic origins, cultural values and norms will affect people’s perceptions of and responses
to domestic abuse. For people from some ethnic minority backgrounds, these may include fear (of
not being believed, of being exposed, of the criminal justice system), victim-blaming culture, and
failure to recognise abuse. Honour and shame are highly important concepts in certain cultures,
and the consequences of dishonouring family or community by disclosing abuse are significant.

I will live with the abuse rather than get divorced.
Divorce in my culture means my life is over.
- Quote from Thames Valley BAMER Project Report

Honour and shame are highly important
concepts in certain cultures, and the
consequences of dishonouring family or
community by disclosing abuse are significant.

The Thames Valley Black, Asian, minority ethnic and refugee (BAMER) Project Report identified
barriers faced by women from ethnic minorities who experience abuse. For example a victim
needing a family member to interpret at appointments is denied privacy to discuss abuse with the
health or social care professional.29

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
89 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

15

English isn’t my first language so I use language
translation apps when I meet with different workers –
it’s not perfect but it works.
- Victim of domestic abuse, Buckinghamshire
Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities
There are limited data around domestic abuse in the Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities.
However, as in other communities, community members and workers have noted domestic abuse
as a serious and long-standing problem.30 The domestic abuse charity One Voice 4 Travellers
estimated as many as three in four women from these communities experience domestic abuse at
some point in their lives.31

Sexual orientation and gender identity
National statistics do not report domestic abuse by sexual orientation or gender identity. However,
studies suggest that between 25 and 40% of lesbian, gay and bisexual people report one or more
domestic abuse incidents in their lifetime. This rises to between 28% and 80% for trans people.32
An NSPCC survey in UK schools suggested that 44% of teenagers with same-sex partners had
experienced some form of physical partner violence, increased from 20% for those in heterosexual
relationships.33
Domestic abuse victims with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or another definition of their
gender and sexuality identity (LGBT+) are known to present with higher levels of risk and complex
needs compared to non-LGBT+ people, such as mental health problems, self-harm and drug and
alcohol misuse.34

LGBT+ victims may face threats of
‘outing’ about sexual orientation and
gender identity.

They also face unique issues such as being victim to threats of ‘outing’ about sexual orientation
and gender identity, and ‘identity abuse’ which may include withholding of medication or clothing
relating to their identity.35

Most of my friends and family didn’t know I was gay
so I didn’t want to drop a double bomb-shell on them by
telling them I was also being abused by my partner.
- Victim of domestic abuse, Buckinghamshire

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
90 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

16

5. WHAT ARE THE RISK FACTORS FOR
BECOMING A PERPETRATOR?
Certain factors are associated with increased risk of perpetrating domestic abuse. They may not
cause the abuse to happen, but they contribute. Risk factors can be cumulative, and combine to
increase the risk of committing domestic abuse.36
Greater risk is associated with low self-esteem, hostility towards women, and/or the need for
dominance and control. A history of depression and suicide attempts have also been linked to
increased risk of becoming a perpetrator. Where economic stress, marital conflict and/or jealousy
occurs, domestic abuse is more likely. Additionally, evidence suggests that communities with
lower social cohesion, lower bystander intervention, and lower social capital have higher rates of
intimate partner violence.
In contrast, protective factors can reduce the influence of risk factors. Good physical and mental
health and a sense of wellbeing are protective against perpetrating abuse.

Good physical and mental health and a sense of
wellbeing are protective against perpetrating abuse.
Having a stable home and family life are also protective. Communities with greater social
cohesion, good access to healthcare and knowledge and training of bystander interventions
have reduced risk of domestic abuse. Social norms that discourage violence and support gender
equality, and public policy that aims to level up health inequalities are also protective.37
To illustrate the interplay between risk and protective factors, a recent study with domestic
abuse practitioners showed common risk and protective factors associated with becoming a
perpetrator.38 For example, normalising abusive behaviour was a risk factor. Protective factors
included having meaningful support networks. Understanding these multilevel factors can help
identify various opportunities for prevention. For example, improving access to stable housing,
and promoting bystander interventions to reduce the risk of domestic abuse.

It was useful – I learnt how to put myself in my
partner’s shoes and to see things from her perspective.
I wouldn’t have done this unless I’d been forced to. There
should be more help and advice like this to help men
before they get into a criminal situation like I did.
- Perpetrators of domestic abuse in Buckinghamshire reflecting on
their attendance at a positive relationships programme
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
91 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

17

6. WHEN IS SOMEONE MORE AT
RISK OF DOMESTIC ABUSE?
There are certain times when abuse may be more severe or more frequent.

Pregnancy and postnatal period
International estimates suggest that between four and nine of every 100 pregnant women are
abused during pregnancy or soon after birth.39

Pregnancy is associated
with an increased risk of
domestic abuse.

Pregnancy is associated with an increased risk of domestic abuse and also changes to the pattern
of abuse.40 The time of greatest risk is thought to be the postnatal period. Estimates suggest that
between 290 and 650 Buckinghamshire women may be affected by domestic abuse each year
when pregnant or in the postnatal period. Midwives and Health Visitors are aware of the potential
for domestic abuse and screen patients carefully, seeking specialist help as appropriate. Local
domestic abuse services support pregnant and postnatal women.

Drug and alcohol use
Drug and alcohol use can decrease inhibitions, act as a catalyst, and may lead to violence to solve
conflicts in intimate partner relationships.41 In the Crime Survey for England and Wales (2018)
victims reported that the perpetrator was under the influence of alcohol in 17% of cases and drugs
in 11% of cases. Victims were under the influence of alcohol (8%) and drugs (2%) less often at the
time of abuse.42 Recent police data for Buckinghamshire show that nine in ten perpetrators were
not using alcohol at the time of the offence.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
92 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

18

Separating or fleeing from perpetrator

Leaving - and shortly after
leaving - an abuser is a
dangerous time for the victim.

Leaving an abuser is a dangerous time. The risk of further abuse can increase as and after the
victim leaves. One study explored post-separation violence, and found three in four women
suffered further abuse, and one in three women suffered continued post-separation violence.43
Furthermore, 37 of the 91 women killed by a male partner in the UK in 2018, had either separated
or were taking steps to separate from their partner. Eleven of the 37 women were killed in the first
month of separation.44

Football matches
Studies in England have shown significant increases in the number of domestic abuse cases
recorded by the police when the men’s national team are involved in significant football matches,
both when they win, and even more so when they lose.45 A recent study showed that England
football success in international tournaments also increased the likelihood of alcohol-related
violent behaviours in the home.46 A London hospital reported a 200% referral increase to its
domestic abuse support service during the 2014 men’s football World Cup.47 The Women’s Aid
campaign ‘Football United Against Domestic Violence’ aims to raise awareness of domestic abuse,
and battle sexist attitudes that underpin abuse against women. Wycombe Wanderers are one of
the football clubs that supports this campaign.48

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
93 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

19

7. WHAT ARE THE IMPACTS OF
DOMESTIC ABUSE?
Experiencing and witnessing domestic abuse can have devastating impacts on victims, and their
children, friends and wider family. There are also wider societal impacts. Tools such as the DASH
risk checklist help trained health and social care professionals to identify the risk of harm victims
may be facing.

Victim’s health

Harm as a result of domestic
abuse can have lifelong
impacts on physical, mental
and sexual health.

Harm as a result of domestic abuse can have lifelong impacts on physical, mental and sexual
health. The more severe the abuse, the greater the impact. In the worst cases, domestic abuse can
result in homicide, including suicide as a result of domestic abuse.
One in five domestic abuse victims at high risk of serious harm or murder reported attending an
accident and emergency department because of their injuries in the year before getting help.
Abuse can also result on long term health problems.
A study interviewing women and girls over 15 years old found that those who had experienced
physical or sexual violence by a partner were more likely to report overall poor health, chronic
pain, memory loss, and problems walking and carrying out daily activities.49
Sexual violence can lead to infections, chronic pelvic pain, sexually transmitted infections,
unintended and unwanted pregnancies, and abortions.50
Alcohol and drugs can be used by the victim as a way of coping or self-medicating, putting
victims at risk of further ill health.51 Their effects may also leave victims less capable of negotiating
resolution and at risk of further violence.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
94 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

20

Domestic abuse and mental ill health are commonly associated. A recent study found that half
of women presenting to their GP with domestic abuse had already had some form of diagnosed
mental illness.52 Victims experience anxiety, depression, low self-esteem, inability to trust others,
flashbacks, eating and sleeping disorders, and emotional detachment.53 Considering or attempting
suicide has been reported in 16% of victims, and self-harming in 13% of victims.54 An estimated
one in three women who attempt suicide in the UK have experienced domestic abuse.55
Domestic abuse affects all areas of life, as well as poor health.
Housing and homelessness

Domestic abuse is a leading driver of
homelessness. Latest national figures
from 2020 show that domestic abuse was
the second most common reason given
for losing a home.

Domestic abuse is a leading driver of homelessness. Latest national figures from 2020 show that
domestic abuse was the second most common reason given for losing a home (14.5% of cases).56
The homeless charity Crisis estimates that almost one in five of homeless women (18%) are
homeless due to domestic abuse.57 Domestic abuse accounts for at least one in ten people who
require local authority support for homelessness in England, Wales and Scotland.58 Actual need
may be higher; the survey showed that one in three respondents left their home because of the
abuse or leaving a relationship.
Finances
A recent survey of female survivors of domestic abuse found that one in three respondents
said their access to money during the relationship was controlled by the perpetrator.59 One in
four respondents said that their partner did not let them have money for essentials during the
relationship. A similar number reported that they used savings or children’s money for essentials.
Many (43.1%) reported being in debt because of the abuse, and over a quarter regularly lost sleep
through worrying about debt.
The consequences of domestic abuse can increase the risk of poverty. One study found that
women in poverty were more likely to have faced extensive violence and abuse (14%), compared
to women not in poverty (6%).60

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
95 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

21

Employment
Over half (56.1%) of respondents on the same survey who had left an abusive relationship felt that
the abuse had impacted their ability to work. Just under half of all respondents felt the abuse had
negatively impacted their long-term employment prospects/earnings.

Children and young people

In the words of UNICEF,
some of the biggest
victims of domestic abuse
are the smallest.

In the words of UNICEF, some of the biggest victims of domestic abuse are the smallest.61
Domestic abuse has a negative impact on the mental, emotional and psychological health of
children. Children can suffer social and educational developmental problems, and in some cases
grow to accept abuse as normal behaviour. An estimated one in five children are exposed to
domestic abuse in the UK,62 with 130,000 children living in homes where there is a high risk of
serious harm or murder due to domestic abuse.63
In Buckinghamshire, for the financial year 2020 to 2021, there were over 2,400 referrals for a social
care assessment to children’s social care where domestic violence was the primary concern. This
represents a 31% increase on the previous year. This accounts for 23% of all children’s social care
referrals. Almost 700 children and young people where domestic violence was a concern were
given children in need plans, child protection plans or became looked- after. Children starting
a social care service from 2020 to 2021 – where domestic violence was the primary concern –
accounted for 23% of all children’s social care services received. 105 children who had domestic
abuse mentioned as a factor in their assessment became looked after by the local authority from
2020 to 2021. This represents half of all children who became looked after in that year. These
figures will underestimate domestic abuse suffered and witnessed by children in Buckinghamshire
as not all cases will be referred to social care. Of the 116 children accommodated in Women’s Aid
Buckinghamshire refuges from 2019 to 2020, over half (66%) had directly witnessed domestic
abuse, and 17 of the families were subject to a Child Protection Plan.
The full extent of harm will differ for each child depending on their circumstances and age. Around
two in three (62%) children living with domestic abuse are thought to be directly harmed by the
perpetrator; harm is also caused by witnessing abuse.64 Wider effects such as having to move
home and school to escape abuse can further harm children by increasing instability in their lives.
A survey of women in English refuges showed that about two in three residents had children with
them.65
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
96 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

22

Growing up with domestic abuse is likely to be a
traumatic and stressful negative experience.
Growing up with domestic abuse is likely to be a traumatic and stressful negative experience,
and the impacts will vary between children. Children may demonstrate outward behaviours such
as aggression, anti-social behaviour and risk taking;66 others may have difficulty expressing their
emotions. Children may also feel depressed, anxious, angry, guilty, confused, and helpless.67
The impacts can be long term. Studies suggest that exposure to domestic abuse in early life may
increase the risk of:
•
•
•

Alcohol use. Children witnessing violence are more likely to misuse alcohol later in life.68
Becoming a victim or perpetrator of domestic abuse, although this association is complex.69,70
For example, normalising experiences of abuse will make it difficult for children to establish
and maintain healthy relationships, and may increase their risk of domestic abuse in the future.
Antisocial and risk-taking behaviour, early pregnancy and homelessness. Experiencing any
or a combination of these in adolescence increases vulnerability to sexual exploitation and
criminal behaviour.71

Feeling safe is even more important when you have your
children to think about.
- Victim of domestic abuse, Buckinghamshire

Wider society
A Home Office report estimated the annual economic and social costs of domestic abuse,
including domestic homicides, to be over £66 billion in England and Wales (year ending March
2017).72 The largest costs as a consequence of domestic abuse were the physical and emotional
harms (£47,287 million). The largest costs in response to domestic abuse were police costs (£1,257
million). The average total cost per victim was an estimated £34,010, made up of lower-costing
crimes such as indecent exposure, to the highest-cost crime of domestic homicide.

Using Home Office costs with our local
estimate of 21,000 victims, we estimate
that the potential annual cost of the
consequences of domestic abuse in
Buckinghamshire is £687 million.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
97 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

23

Using Home Office costs with our local estimate of 21,000 victims, we estimate that the potential
annual cost of the consequences of domestic abuse in Buckinghamshire is £687 million. This is
physical and emotional harm costs of £510 million, lost output costs of £152 million (time off work
and reduced productivity), and health service costs of £25 million.
Using Home Office costs with our local estimate of about 4,000 victims known to the police in
2020 to 2021, we estimate that the potential annual cost of responding to domestic abuse in
Buckinghamshire only for those we know about is £3.5 million, of which police costs account for
£2.5 million. However, the health impact and costs would still accrue whether the victim reported
the crime or not, so the local health costs will be an underestimate.

Deaths from domestic abuse: domestic homicide reviews
A domestic homicide review must be carried out by local authorities in England and Wales following
the death of an individual aged 16 or over, which has, or appears to have resulted from violence,
abuse or neglect, and inflicted by someone personally connected to the victim.e
Each review provides a detailed account of events leading up to the homicide, the context, and
what we can learn from the event. The most recent data from the Home Office (December 2016)
show that over 400 reviews have been completed since domestic homicide reviews started in 2011.73
As of July 2020, 39 domestic homicides have taken place in the Thames Valley region, and 15 in
Buckinghamshire.

As of July 2020, 39 domestic
homicides have taken place
in the Thames Valley region,
and 15 in Buckinghamshire.

What can we learn from these deaths?
Published homicide data for England and Wales (from the Home Office report and another recent
report), show that no two cases are the same.74 However, there are certain key themes which have
been identified. Data for England and Wales are used given the limited data available for local
cases.
•
•
•
•

Women are more likely to be victims than men. About eight in ten victims are female.
Men are more likely to be perpetrators than women. About nine in ten perpetrators are male.
Data on ethnicity of victims is often missing.
Substance misuse can be a prominent feature in the lives of both victims and perpetrators.

Perpetrator and victim related, or are/were in intimate partner relationship, or member of the same
household.
e

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
98 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

24

•
•

Victims and perpetrators are commonly known to services prior to the homicide. For example,
just under half of cases were known to the police to be in an abusive relationship.
Perpetrators of homicides follow a pattern of behaviour, including having previous controlling
behaviour, and reacting violently to loss of control of the victim or relationship.75

Given that domestic homicide reviews aim to identify learning, service improvements and better
prevention of domestic abuse and homicide, an anonymised and accessible national database of
reports would help local authorities learn from other areas to help prevent these tragedies from
happening.76
Warning signs for intimate partner homicides
Between 2009 and 2018, a woman was killed every four days by her partner or ex-partner in the
UK.77
Most victims of intimate partner homicides are women. A review of 372 intimate partner homicides
of female victims, and patterns of behaviour in national domestic homicide review information
identified eight stages that may predict homicide.78 Controlling behaviour by the perpetrator was
the best predictor of homicide, rather than a history of violence. This review has led to learning
about how these homicides can be predicted, and therefore prevented.
All perpetrators who reached the last stage and committed homicide moved through each of
the eight stages. However, many cases saw progression to stage five or six, followed by either
regaining control and returning to stage three, or moving to another relationship.
1. Pre-relationship history. In almost all cases the perpetrator has a history of coercive control,
stalking or domestic abuse.
2. Early relationship. The relationship moves at speed, such as moving in together and declaring
love early on.
3. Relationship. There are controlling patterns in every case study, such as limiting the victim’s
movements, what she wears, or who she sees. The relationship may be dominated by coercive
control, stalking, or domestic abuse. This stage ranged from 3 weeks to 50 years in the case
studies.
4. Trigger/s. Risk rises due to possible loss of control by the perpetrator over the victim or the
relationship. Usually this loss of control comes from separation initiated by the victim.
5. Escalation. The perpetrator tries to gain back control back. More frequent and severe
controlling behaviours are seen, such as crying, violence, stalking, or suicide/murder threats.
6. Change in thinking. With the loss of control comes a decision by the perpetrator about
how they deal with this loss. This may be to form a new relationship, to mend the current
relationship, or to decide to kill someone.
7. Planning. The perpetrator plans the homicide. This could include buying weapons, digging
a grave, researching methods online, planning and organising finances, or stalking to gather
intelligence.
8. Homicide. Case studies included violent homicides where the level of violence used appears
to have no direct relation to that within the relationship.
Over 125 domestic abuse organisations and professionals have been calling for a national
response to perpetrators for some time, including a national perpetrator strategy. A positive step
towards this came in the HM Treasury Budget 2021, which included funding across England and
Wales for perpetrator behaviour change programmes that work with offenders to reduce the risk
of abuse occurring.79

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
99 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

25

To start with it was the occasional
push or slap, but it got worse
“I met my ex-husband when I was 17. I moved in with his family six months later when I was
pregnant. Everything went well for a while. However, one evening at the pub he suddenly told
me we were going home – I thought it was a bit strange but agreed. On the way home he told
me that he was angry with me as I was flirting with another man. I told him that I hadn’t and
he slapped me around the face. This was a bit of a shock but he apologised straight away and
told me that he was sorry.
“Things went okay, we got married and my child was born. I quickly became pregnant again
and although things did become a bit tense, I put this down to the pressures of suddenly
having a family. My ex-husband would drink a bit. It seemed that if he had too much we would
argue, he would say that I was lazy, and that I could not look after my children properly. The
drinking was happening most evenings and so were the insults. Then it started to get physical.
“To start with it was the occasional push or slap, but it got worse. One particular evening,
when the children were six and five, he came home from work early and shouted at me
because the dinner was not ready when he had arrived. He told me that I was useless, slapped
me across the face and then told me to get on with his dinner. When I took it through to him
he started shouting at me – ‘What the hell are you giving me, I don’t like this....’ He grabbed the
back of my neck, and pushed my face towards the food, shouting at me all the time, saying I
was trying to poison him. Then he shoved his hand full of food in into my mouth and told me to
eat it. He pushed me to the floor and started to punch and kick me.
“The children were screaming. He told me to shut them up or he would sort them out too. I
managed to quieten them down by taking them upstairs. When I returned I apologised to him
about the food and he told me to clear it up. He said that I was not fulfilling my duty as his wife
properly. He then made me have sex with him and all the time he was telling me how useless I
was and that I deserved everything I got.
“The next morning I decided that I could not do this anymore. I contacted my friend and she
took me to her house. We spoke to housing and they gave me the number for Women’s Aid,
where there was space in a refuge for me and my children. I did not have much with me, just
a few clothes and things for the children. When I got to the refuge I was shown to a room and
was given some spare clothes and food. I did not have any money. My worker helped me to
claim a crisis loan and sorted out getting my benefits. I did report what had happened to the
police and my worker came with me to make a statement. The police were very helpful but
unfortunately although they arrested him he denied everything. They were unable to proceed
with any charges.
“When I was in the refuge I was helped with things like housing, and support for the children
getting them in to school. I stayed in the refuge for six months and I was then offered a house
from the Council. The staff at the refuge helped me to get things for the house and helped
me move in. I contacted Women’s Aid later as my ex-husband had applied for custody of the
children. He was awarded contact only. I could not have coped without the help of Women’s
Aid and I am so grateful to them for helping me and the children. My ex-husband no longer
sees the children as he moved out of the country.”
- Anonymous resident, Buckinghamshire

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
100 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

26

8. WHAT WORKS TO PREVENT
DOMESTIC ABUSE?

Domestic abuse is a complex societal issue spanning
many areas of life. Prevention and the response must be
multifaceted.
Domestic abuse is a complex soccietal issue spanning many areas of life. Prevention and the
response must be multifaceted. The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE)
has published guidance on multi-agency working for domestic violence and abuse (2014) which
includes 17 recommendations.80 These include a local strategic partnership to prevent domestic
abuse; the scope, shape and variety of local services; the quality of partnership working; and staff
knowledge and skills in identifying and supporting victims of domestic abuse.
Embedding early intervention and prevention into a multiagency response to domestic abuse is
highlighted in the government’s Violence Against Women and Girls Strategy (2016 to 2020).81 The
response includes government-led initiatives as well as local authority multi-agency working,
safeguarding, and commissioning. It highlights the multi-layered and co-ordinated health, social
and criminal justice approaches required to tackle this issue and can be applied to all victims
rather than only women and girls.
Wrap around support
(e.g. government funding to address domestic abuse)
Health services
(e.g. training around early
identification of domestic abuse)

Victim

Criminal justice
(e.g. increased confidence in the
police response to victims, to
support early reporting)

Children

Perpetrator

Education
(e.g. supporting schools to deliver
effective healthy relationship
education)
Local authorities
(e.g. safeguarding responsibilities
for vulnerable adults and children)

Improved multi agency working
(e.g. more streamlined and effective to
support the victim, children and perpetrator)
Figure adapted from Violence
against Women and Girls
Strategy, 2016-2020 figure 1
(embedding early intervention
and prevention).82

Troubled Families Programme
(focuses on families already suffering
multiple problems)

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
101 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

Wider culture change
(e.g. public campaigns to
raise awareness)

27

Potentially effective domestic abuse interventions

New and existing programmes should be monitored and
reviewed to improve the robustness of evidence.

Historically, many interventions addressing domestic abuse have not been thoroughly evaluated
so it is vital that new and existing programmes should be monitored and reviewed to improve
the robustness of the evidence. Some evidence based or potentially effective domestic abuse
interventions are highlighted below.
•

School-based awareness raising of domestic abuse is known to achieve positive changes in
knowledge and attitudes towards domestic abuse and prevent dating violence.

•

Campaigns to raise awareness of domestic abuse is a fundamental step in victims and
bystanders recognising domestic abuse. This should be combined with signposting the public
and professionals to services.

‘Bystander interventions’
challenge harmful attitudes,
language and behaviour
relating to domestic abuse.

•

‘Bystander interventions’ challenge harmful attitudes, language and behaviour relating to
domestic abuse.83 These interventions – from challenging a disrespectful statement to noticing
signs of domestic abuse and offering support – can be undertaken by anyone. Solace Women’s
Aid provides training and materials via their website for everyone,84 as well as information
specifically for men.85

•

Offering safe opportunities to seek help such as campaigns using code words that victims
can use in specific circumstances to alert someone to abuse. As services have moved online,
and in-person interactions are replaced with a digital offer, a hand signal or gesture may be
preferred to a code word. Examples include the recent ‘Ask for ANI’, ‘Ask for Angela’, and the
Zoom signal campaigns.86

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
102 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

28

•

Advocacy interventions with victims are based on empowerment, discussing solutions, and
settings goals to respond to their situation. These interventions usually link survivors with
legal, police, housing and financial services, and many also include psychological or psychoeducational support. NICE recommends that all domestic abuse victims should be provided
with advocacy and advice services tailored to their level of risk and specific need.87 Evidence
suggests that intensive advocacy may improve quality of life and reduce physical abuse for
one to two years.88

•

Training of health care professionals in domestic abuse education and advocacy may lead to
an increase in awareness, and greater disclosure, identification and referral to domestic abuse
services.89 For example, data from domestic homicide reviews show us that a victim’s contact
with services may be limited to their GP so it is vital that GPs are skilled and proactive in
recognising signs of domestic abuse and referring patients for urgent help.
The ‘Identification and Referral to Improve Safety’ (IRIS) training and support programme
is an example of an effective health care training intervention, designed for GP surgeries.90
Evaluation of IRIS showed improved identification of women experiencing domestic abuse
and improved referral rates to specialist services (compared to surgeries not trained in
IRIS).91 A recent evaluation across GP surgeries in London showed that of the 144 surgeries
trained in IRIS, a 30-fold increase in domestic abuse referrals was seen compared to the
those surgeries without IRIS training.92 These outcomes show that clinician behaviour can be
changed in relation to domestic abuse enquiry and referral, for the benefit of the victim. A costeffectiveness study showed the IRIS programme to have lower costs and greater effectiveness
for GP surgeries, compared to surgeries offering usual care (not using IRIS).93

•

Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVA) are trained to address the safety of
victims at high risk of harm from intimate partners, ex-partners or family members. There is
evidence suggesting that IDVAs have a positive impact on the safety and well-being of victims
experiencing extremely serious levels of domestic abuse.94 This reduced risk of harm has some
effect on reducing the risk of domestic abuse to children.

•

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARACs) are regular multiagency meetings
to discuss high risk domestic abuse cases. A coordinated safety plan is enacted to support the
victim. The victim is ideally represented by an IDVA. Research indicates that MARACs (and
IDVAs) can improve victim safety and reduce revictimization, and therefore may be a highly
cost-effective measure.95

Perpetrator interventions
Interventions aimed at perpetrators can be either criminal sanctions, or perpetrator interventions
and programmes. Only 1% of perpetrators receive any specialist intervention to challenge or
change their behaviour.
NICE guidance states that ‘There is lack of consistent evidence of the effectiveness of programmes
for people who perpetrate domestic violence and abuse’. However, ‘such interventions are an
important part of domestic violence and abuse services, and provided they are supported by robust
evaluation to inform future commissioning decisions, should be recommended.’96
NICE has also published quality standards for domestic violence and abuse (2016).97 The
standards are (1) asking about domestic abuse, (2) responding to domestic abuse, (3) referring to
specialist services for victims, and (4) referring to specialist services for perpetrators.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
103 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

29

9. SUMMARY AND
RECOMMENDATIONS
This report shows that domestic violence and abuse is common, but often hidden and
underreported. The impacts for victims, survivors, their families, and society are serious and
wide-reaching. In preparing this report, we have reviewed the latest data, evidence and looked at
current service provision.
Preventing domestic abuse from occurring must be a priority and we are supporting our schools
to implement recent RSHE (relationships, sex and health education) that includes recognising
domestic abuse and abusive relationships, coercive control, consent, and mutual respect in
friendships and relationships. Looking ahead, the new multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local
Partnership Board will be championing good practice in awareness raising, education and training
and the provision of high-quality support and advocacy services. Services for victims (including
children) and perpetrators will be further developed to meet the needs of diverse groups and
people with protected characteristics, recognising that anyone can be a victim. Starting with
partners on the Board, all organisations will be encouraged to adopt measures to keep employees
and service users safe from domestic abuse including during home working, remote digital
working, and consultations. The Board will also explore how we can share and learn from past
and current domestic homicide reviews to understand how such tragedies can be prevented in
the future.
The following recommendations should, in addition to statutory duties for support for people
living in safe accommodation, inform the Domestic Abuse Local Partnership Board strategy
and delivery plan:

1
2
3
4
5
6

The Domestic Abuse Board should support awareness raising of domestic abuse through
coordinated, county-wide participation in a selected national campaign.
The Domestic Abuse Board should consider how bystander training could be utilised locally
and promoted, as an evidence-based intervention to challenge harmful attitudes, language
and behaviour relating to domestic abuse for people of all ages.
Buckinghamshire Council Community Safety team should consider how to increase the
diversity within the domestic violence and abuse champions scheme by actively recruiting
network members that reflect the diversity of people that may experience domestic abuse.
The Domestic Abuse Board should develop and roll-out high-quality, shared, scenariobased training across Buckinghamshire for key stakeholders and front-line staff. Primary
care should also consider implementing the IRIS training package as an effective evidencebased training programme across Buckinghamshire.
The Domestic Abuse Board should oversee the development of a Buckinghamshire
domestic abuse referral pathway for all staff to follow, to ensure timely and responsive
delivery of services, fully understood by frontline staff and accessible to victims seeking
help.
All Board member agencies to support the development of an evidence base for what works
for perpetrators, to inform commissioning of promising interventions, and evaluation of their
effectiveness.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
104 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

30

10. GLOSSARY

Adverse Childhood experience (ACE): ACEs are stressful events occurring during childhood
that directly affect a child or affect the environment in which they live (e.g. growing up in a house
where there is domestic violence). ACEs can have long-term negative impacts on health and wellbeing.
Child protection plan: A plan drawn up by the local authority to set out how a child can be kept
safe, how things can be made better for the family and what support they will need.
Honour based violence: A crime or incident which has or may have been committed to protect or
defend the honour of the family and/or community.
Independent domestic violence advisor (IDVA): IDVAs support victims to reduce immediate risk
and increase self-esteem and resilience. The aim of the service is for victims to effect change and
keep themselves safe in the longer term.
LGBT+: People who are lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, or have another definition of their
gender and sexuality.
Multi-agency risk assessment conference (MARAC): A multiagency panel producing a
coordinated action plan to increase the victim/s safety and manage the perpetrator/s behaviour.
Protected characteristics: It is against the law to discriminate against someone because of
the following protected characteristics: age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, or sexual orientation. The
Equality Act of 2010 protects citizens against discrimination.
Stalking: This can be a form of domestic abuse. It is a pattern of persistent and unwanted
attention, and is often committed by ex-partners but can be committed by anyone.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
105 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

31

11. APPENDICES

I. Domestic abuse full definition
Full government definition of domestic violence and abuse:
•
•

Behaviour of a person towards another person is domestic abuse if (a) the people are each
aged 16 or over and are personally connected to each other, and (b) the behaviour is abusive.
Behaviour is abusive if it consists of any of the following:
a. physical or sexual abuse
b. violent or threatening behaviour
c. controlling or coercive behaviour
d. economic abuse
e. psychological, emotional or other abuse

The definition covers different types of relationships including family members, ex-partners and
those who are not cohabiting. Although the definition refers to people aged 16 or over, children
can still be victims. If the abuser directs his/her behaviour at a child to be abusive to another
adult, this is domestic abuse.
Controlling behaviour is defined as “a range of acts designed to make a person subordinate and/
or dependent by isolating them from sources of support, exploiting their resources and capacities
for personal gain, depriving them of the means needed for independence, resistance and escape
and regulating their everyday behaviour”. Coercive behaviour is defined as “an act or a pattern of
acts of assault, threats, humiliation and intimidation or other abuse that is used to harm, punish, or
frighten their victim”. This can also include stalking, which is a pattern of persistent and unwanted
attention.103
Economic abuse is wider than financial abuse, as described by the charity Surviving Economic
Abuse: “Economic abuse is designed to reinforce or create economic instability. In this way it limits
women’s choices and ability to access safety. Lack of access to economic resources can result in
women staying with abusive men for longer and experiencing more harm as a result.”104
Psychological, emotional or other abuse can include controlling another person using emotional
or manipulative methods such as shaming, criticizing and embarrassing. A consistent pattern of
emotional abuse will have a negative effect on a victim’s self-esteem and mental health.

II. Domestic Abuse Bill
The Domestic Abuse Bill 2021 was passed in April 2021.105 It will:
•
•

Widen the definition of domestic abuse to include other abusive behaviour as well as violent or
sexual offences
Improve the justice system to provide protection for victims, for example limiting or prohibiting
cross-examination of victims

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
106 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

32

•
•

Strengthen the support for victims of abuse by statutory agencies
Appoint Domestic Abuse Commissioner (Nicole Jacobs was appointed in September 2019)

The Domestic Abuse Bill 2021 includes a number of statutory and non-statutory intentions that
affect local authorities, some of which are summarised here:
Local authorities in England to provide support* to victims of domestic abuse and their children
in refuges and other safe accommodation.
•

Local authorities in England to establish a multi-agency Domestic Abuse Local Partnership
Board. The Board will:
- Assess the need for accommodation-based domestic abuse services for all victims
- Develop and publish a strategy for this provision, and use for commissioning decisions
- Monitor and evaluate the effectiveness of the strategy, and report back to central 		
government
- Include wide representation (local authority, voices of victims and their children, domestic
abuse charities, health care providers and police and other criminal justice agencies)

* Support includes advocacy support, domestic abuse prevention advice, specialist support for
victims with protected characteristics and/or complex needs, children’s support, housing-related
support, and counselling and therapy for adults and children.
All eligible homeless victims of domestic abuse automatically have ‘priority need’ for
homelessness assistance.
•

Currently, domestic abuse victims without a priority need (such as being pregnant) must show
that they are vulnerable as a result of fleeing domestic abuse in order to access homelessness
assistance. The Bill removes the need to prove this vulnerability.

When rehousing an existing lifetime secure tenant, local authorities must honour this by
granting a new lifetime secure tenancy in the case that the tenant or household member has
been a victim of domestic abuse and is being rehoused as a result.
Introduce regulations and statutory guidance on Relationship Education, Relationship and Sex
Education, and Health Education.
Invest in domestic abuse training for responding agencies and professionals.

DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT

DOMESTIC
Page
107 VIOLENCE AND ABUSE

33

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Healthwatch Bucks update (November 2021)
This paper summarises recent project work we have undertaken in relation to health and
social care services, as aligned with the priorities of Joint Health & Wellbeing strategy.

Live Well
COVID-19 Vaccine Report
Link to report online
We wanted to hear about people’s experience of having the Covid-19 vaccine and to learn why
some might choose not to have it.
Our online survey asked about people’s experience of:





being invited to have the vaccine
getting to the vaccination site
having the vaccine.

We also asked people who said they’d decided not to have the vaccine for more details about
that choice.
Our survey started in February and closed at the end of June. In June, we published our first
report based on feedback we received in February and March.
We wanted to make sure that people’s feedback helped to improve the service as soon as
possible. So we continued to pass the key findings about sites to the Buckinghamshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (BCCG) and the Bucks Vaccination Cell on a weekly basis throughout April,
May and June.
Our second report was based on feedback received from the start of April until the end of June,
During this time we heard from 1205 people who said they’d been to have the vaccine and 63
people who said they’d chosen bot to have the vaccine. Our main report set out in detail what
we found and our recommendations to BCCG and the Bucks Vaccination Cell. Their response can
be accessed here COVID-19 vaccination programme in Bucks: Responses – Healthwatch Bucks.
Bucks CCG has also put the key actions it took, based on pour feedback in the ‘You said, we did’
part of their website You said, we did | Buckinghamshire CCG.

1 | Page

Page 109

Enter and View visits to Community Opportunity providers
Part of the local Healthwatch programme is to carry out Enter and View visits. Local
Healthwatch representatives carry out these visits to health and social care services to find out
how they are being run and make recommendations where there are areas for improvement.
The Health and Social Care Act allows these representatives to watch how services are delivered
and to talk to service users their families and carers on premises such as hospitals, care homes,
GP practices, dental surgeries and others. Enter and View visits can happen if people tell us
there is a problem with a service but equally, they can occur when services have a good
reputation – so we can learn about and share examples of what they do well from the
perspective of people who experience the service first-hand.
In 2021/22 we are looking at Covid19 response and recovery in Health and Social Care. Together
with our cross-cutting interest in lesser heard voices, we decided to visit locations where
community opportunity services are provided. These had to close in 2020 during the pandemic
and then adapt to changing circumstances as they opened through 2020 and 2021.
We wanted to hear from those who attended this provision in Buckinghamshire; what they
gained from the experience and how it promotes wellbeing and self-reliance, one of the aims of
Our Ambition | Buckinghamshire Council (buckscc.gov.uk). In this Bucks Council are looking to
develop ‘meaningful and appropriate day and employment opportunities in the community to
enable people to live fulfilling lives. We want to support a culture of choices for individuals
rather than the current culture of dependency and having to fit into services.’ We also wanted
to identify good practice and ways to improve service delivery.
The report of our first visit can be accessed here; Enter & View visit to Sees the Day –
Healthwatch Bucks

Voices report
Part of our role at Healthwatch Bucks is to collect feedback on local Health and Social Care
services. We do this in a number of ways including our signposting service and the ‘rate and
review’ facility on our website.

2 | Page

Page 110

Voices Summary
Dentistry
From 21/01/2020 to 04/11/2021

Voices Heard

Positive vs Negative

64
0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Feedback elements

99
Top 5 Positive Themes
25
20
15

10

10

10

5

5

2

2

Service delivery,
organisation and staffing

Cleanliness

Quality of Care

4

4

3

3

Cost of services

Quality of treatment

Staff attitudes

Communication between
staff and patients

0
Staff attitudes

Quality of treatment

42
Top
Themes
45 5 Negative

40
35
30
25
20
15
10
5
0

Access to services

Source
Email

33

Website Feedback

25

Engagement Event

1
0

3 | Page

5

10

15

Page 111

20

25

30

35

Comments per month
12
10
8
6
4
2
0
Jan

May

Jul

Aug

Oct

Nov

Dec

Jan

Feb

2020

4 | Page

Apr

May

Jun

Jul

2021

Page 112

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Health and Adult Social Care Select Committee (Chairman: Jane MacBean, Scrutiny officer: Liz Wheaton)

Page 113

Date

Topic

Description & Purpose

Lead Presenters

Contributors

25th
November
(Agenda
published
17th Nov)

Director for Public
Health Annual Report
(moved from Sept mtg
due to report going to
Cabinet later)

To receive the latest DPHAR (focus on domestic
abuse). Also, an opportunity to hear how Public
Health will support the ICP to tackle health
inequalities and how PH is working with
Community Boards to help promote health and
wellbeing in the community.

Carl Jackson, Deputy Cabinet
Member with responsibility for
Public Health

Dr Jane O’Grady, Director
for Public Health

To review the results of the forthcoming
consultation on proposed changes to primary
care provision in Buckingham.

Representatives from Swan Hill
Practice and the CCG

Depending
Buckingham Primary
on
Care provision
timeframes,
this item may
require a
special
meeting
BHT Clinical Strategy

An opportunity for the Committee to review
BHT’s clinical strategy and provide feedback on
the plans contained within the strategy.

Buckinghamshire
Healthcare NHS Trust

Review progress in the areas of concern raised
in the HASC’s statement in relation to the
Trust’s Quality Account 2020/21.

Neil Macdonald, Chief
Executive, BHT

Agenda Item 10

3rd February
(Agenda
published
26th Jan)

Consultation launched on 23rd August and
closes on 16th November.

This strategy was launched in 2018 and was a 3year strategy so due to be refreshed in 2021.
Opportunity for the Committee to evaluate the
effectiveness of the strategy and review the
plans for the refreshed strategy.

Support for
Carers/Staff Wellbeing

The HASC undertook a one-day inquiry into
support for carers in October 2018. A previous
Committee reviewed the progress in
implementing the recommendations after 9
months so this item could look at the latest
situation. In light of Covid-19, the Committee
could also hear from Buckinghamshire Council
and Buckinghamshire Healthcare NHS Trust
about staff wellbeing and the support services
available for key workers.

Angela Macpherson, Cabinet
Member

Gill Quinton, Corporate
Director

Neil Macdonald, Chief
Executive, Buckinghamshire
Healthcare NHS Trust

Lisa Truett and John
Everson, Commissioning
Managers (ASC)

ICS Strategy due to be finalised by April 2022 so
an opportunity to review and feedback on the
plans (from a local, place perspective).

Presenters to be confirmed but
to include:

Page 114

Better Lives Strategy

24th March
(Agenda
published
16th March)

ICS

TBC – representative from
BHT’s health & wellbeing
team

Chair, ICS
Accountable Officer for the ICS
Managing Director, ICP

Potential pieces of work in other Select Committee’s which HASC Members could link in with and report back to the Committee on:
 Children’s SC – Young people with eating disorders
 Growth, Infrastructure and Housing – Infrastructure considerations when planning housing developments (including S106/CIL). Also
links with education provision as well as health provision. Another issue - Key worker housing.
Possible Inquiry/Rapid Review items:
 Development of Primary Care Networks;
 Mental Health.
Issues to keep under review and to update Members on but not necessarily items for the Committee meetings:
 Progress with developing the community-led health centre in Long Crendon;
 Dentist provision – follow-up on comments/questions made after the March 2020 HASC meeting;
Page 115

Issues to keep an eye on via Health & Wellbeing Board and through the issues coming before the Committee and review work:
 Community engagement exercise and the 4 themes identified – digital services, keeping people safe, community services and reducing
health inequalities. Challenge how the results of this engagement work have been used to shape, inform and make improvements in
the key areas. Engagement is ongoing with further engagement supposed to have been undertaken in the Summer 2021;
 Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment – due October 2022.

This page is intentionally left blank

